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U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY'S
PROPOSALS TO IMPROVE COMPLLAJVCE BY
TAX-EXEMPT ORGANIZATIONS

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 16, 1994

House of Representatives,
Committee on Ways and Means,

Subcommittee on Oversight,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:02 a.m., in room
1100, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. J.J. Pickle (chairman
of the subcommittee) presiding.

[The press release announcing the hearing follows:]

(1)



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
TUESDAY, MARCH 8, 19 94

PRESS RELEASE #21
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
113 5 LONGWORTH HOUSE OFFICE BLDG

.

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20515
TELEPHONE: (202) 225-5522

THE HONORABLE J. J. PICKLE (D., TEX.), CHAIRMAN,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT,

COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS, U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
ANNOUNCES A HEARING TO RECEIVE

THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY'S PROPOSALS
TO IMPROVE COMPLIANCE BY TAX-EXEMPT ORGANIZATIONS

The Honorable J. J. Piclcle (D., Texas), Chairman of the Subcommittee
on Oversight, Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives,
announced today that the Subcommittee will hold a third hearing to review
compliance with, and administration of. Federal tax laws applicable to
public charities exempt from taxation under section 501(c) (3) of the
Internal Revenue Code. The Subcommittee is conducting this hearing to
receive the Department of the Treasury's proposals to improve tax law
compliance, Internal Revenue Service (IRS) administration, and public
accountability with regard to public charities.

The hearing is scheduled for Wednesday, March 16, 1994, beginning at

10:00 a.m., in the main Committee hearing room, 1100 Longworth House
Office Building. Assistant Secretary of the Treasury for Tax Policy, the
Honorable Leslie B. Samuels, is scheduled to testify at the hearing.

In announcing the hearing. Chairman Piclcle stated: "Last year, the
Subcommittee announced a comprehensive review of public charities, with
special attention on the issues of private inurement and public access to
information about the activities of tax-exempt organizations.
Specifically, the Subcommittee has been focusing on the extent to which
charitable organizations were undertaking transactions for the benefit of

"insiders," what IRS could do to better ensure that public charities are
operated in compliance with the law, whether current-law sanctions are
adequate to address abusive activities, and what information the public
needs to effectively oversee the activities of tax-exempt organizations.

"From the testimony at our earlier hearings, I am convinced that,
while the vast majority of charities are operating within the letter of
the law, some charities are indeed being operated for the benefit of
insiders. I also believe that current law does not give IRS the tools it

needs to adequately sanction charities and their insiders when they have
violated the law. Moreover, I am convinced that the public does not have
access to sufficient information to meaningfully evaluate the activities
of charitable organizations. The need for reform is clear.

"I am pleased that the Treasury Department has assisted the
Subcommittee with its comprehensive review, and loolc forward to receiving
their proposals for reform. I encourage those interested in commenting
on Treasury's proposals to submit written statements for the record. In

follow-up to this hearing, the Subcommittee intends to forward its
recommendations for reform to the full Committee for consideration. I am
hopeful that meaningful legislative and administrative reforms to improve
compliance by tax-exempt organizations will be adopted this year. Both
the tax-exempt community and the public will undoubtedly benefit from
reform in this area."

DETAILS FOR SUBMISSION OF WRITTEN COMMENTS :

Persons submitting written comments for the printed record of the
hearing should submit six (6) copies by the close of business, Monday,
April 18, 1994, to Janice Mays, Chief Counsel and Staff Director,
Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, room
1102 Longworth House Office Building, Washington, D.C. 20515.

(MORE)
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Chairman PiCKLE. We will ask the subcommittee to please come
to order.

This is the third hearing of the Subcommittee on Oversight in

this Congress to review the tax laws applicable to section 501(c)(3)

public charities. During our hearings, we have focused on the prob-
lem of inurement and the public's access to information about char-
ities' activities. Our investigations to date have included all types
of charities, such as public service organizations, nonprofit hos-
pitals and universities, televangelists and religious groups, youth
organizations, and performing arts societies.

In general, inurement occurs when an insider or manager diverts

charitable funds for his or her own use. This is prohibited under
current law. What we have learned from our hearings, unfortu-
nately, is that inurement does occur, and the Internal Revenue
Service is not in a position to do much about it. In some instances,

insiders have turned their charity into their own personal "cash
cow." While everyone seems to agree that the vast majority of char-

ities are above reproach, the fact remains that some charities are

abusing the public trust and violating the tax laws. They must be
identified and stopped from this practice.

At our earlier hearings, we received disturbing testimony from
the IRS, State officials, and others who monitor the activities of

public charities about how some charities are being operated as
much for the benefit of insiders as for their intended beneficiaries.

In addition, the subcommittee has received a wealth of information
from the public and charities themselves about abusive situations,

with the recommendation that something be done. Further, in both
open and closed sessions, the subcommittee has discussed where
and how acts of inurement or self-enrichment are occurring, and
why IRS has done little, if anything, to punish this behavior.
The conclusion everyone seems to have reached is that IRS can-

not effectively deal with inurement because of the severity of the

only sanction available under the Internal Revenue Code; that is,

revocation of an organization's tax-exempt status. In most in-

stances, revocation does little to right the wrong done by the insid-

ers. Instead, revocation only serves to punish the needy or the sick

who rely on charitable services. What IRS needs is an additional

sanction, an interim sanction, such as we enacted in cases involv-

ing violations of lobbying, political, and private foundation rules.

In summary, the subcommittee's earlier hearings demonstrated
that current law rules pertaining to inurement are inadequate.

Clearly, changes to these rules would be in the best interest of the
public, the Federal Government and the States, and, more impor-

tantly, the charities themselves.
When the subcommittee announced its comprehensive review of

public charities last year, we sought the assistance and the counsel

of the Department of the Treasury and the IRS. Today, the sub-

committee will receive Treasury's recommendations to address in-

sider dealings involving the assets of charitable organizations and
better public access to information on charitable activities. I am
confident that the enactment of Treasury's recommendations will

ensure the continued public confidence in the integrity of the tax-

exempt community as a whole.



Incidentally, I want to commend the Treasury Department, Les
Samuels, who is going to testify in iust 1 minute, for its cooperation

and its leadership in trying to find a better answer to these ques-

tions. So, Mr. Samuels, we do appreciate your cooperation.

I urge all charities and other interested parties to review Treas-

ury's proposals for reform and to support their efforts. I also ask

that those wishing to express their support or concerns to the sub-

committee do so quickly by submitting a written statement to the

committee for inclusion in the official printed record.

[The prepared statement follows:]



OPENING STATEMENT
THE HONORABLE J. J. PICKLE, CHAIRMAN

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS
WEDNESDAY, MARCH 16, 1994

This is the third hearing of the Subcommittee on Oversight
this Congress to review the'tax laws applicable to section
501(c) (3) public charities. During our hearings, we have focused
on the problem of "inurement" and the public's access to
information about charities' activities. Our investigations, to
date, have included all types of charities, such as public
service organizations, nonprofit hospitals and universities,
televangelists and religious groups, youth organizations, and
performing arts societies.

In general, inurement occurs when an insider or manager
diverts charitable funds for his or her own use. This is
prohibited under current law. What we have learned from our
hearings, unfortunately, is that inurement does occur and the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) is not in a position to do much
about it. In some instances, insiders have turned their
"charity" into their own personal "cash cow." While everyone
seems to agree that the vast majority of charities are above
reproach, the fact remains that some charities are abusing the
public trust and violating the tax laws. They must be identified
and stopped.

At our earlier hearings, we received disturbing testimony
from IRS, State officials, and others who monitor the activities
of public charities about how some charities are being operated
as much for the benefit of insiders as for their intended
beneficiaries. In addition, the Subcommittee has received a
wealth of information from the public and charities themselves,
about abusive situations, with the recommendation that something
be done. Further, in both open and closed sessions, the
Subcommittee has discussed where and how acts of inurement or
self -enrichment are occurring, and why IRS has done little, if
anything, to punish this behavior.

The conclusion everyone seems to have reached is that IRS
cannot effectively deal with inurement because of the severity of
the only sanction available under the Internal Revenue Code --

revocation of an organization's tax-exempt status. In most
instances, revocation does little to right the wrong done by the
insiders. Instead, revocation only serves to punish the needy or
the sick who rely on charitable services. What IRS needs is an
additional sanction- -an "interim" sanction, such as we enacted in
cases involving violations of the lobbying, political, and
private foundation rules.

(MORE)



In summary, the Subcommittee's earlier hearings demonstrated
that current law rules pertaining to inurement are inadequate.
Clearly, changes to these rules would be in the best interest of
the public, the Federal Government and States, and, most
importantly, the charities themselves.

When the Subcommittee announced its comprehensive review of
public charities last year, we sought the assistance and counsel
of the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) and IRS. Today, the
Subcommittee will receive Treasury's recommendations to address:
insider dealings involving the assets of charitable organizations
and better public access to information on charitable activities.
I am confident that enactment of Treasury's recommendations will
insure the continued public confidence in the integrity of the
tax-exempt community as a whole.

I urge all charities and other interested parties to review
Treasury's proposals for reform and to support their efforts. I

also ask that those wishing to express their support or concerns
to the Subcommittee do so quickly, by submitting a written
statement to the Committee for inclusion in the official printed
record.

I have lots of questions to ask today, as do the other
Members, so let's proceed. Also, I should mention that all
Members of the Committee have been invited to participate in this
hearing.

# # # # #
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Chairman PlCKUE, I have other questions to ask, and I know
other members do, too. But, in the interest of time, I am going to

forgo those and first ask if Mr, Houghton has any opening state-

ment to make.
Mr. Houghton.
Mr. Houghton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Samuels, it is good to be here with you.
As we all know, last year the subcommittee held two hearings

which investigated how the IRS administered the prohibition on
private inurement. We found in certain cases egregious examples
of it. We also learned that the IRS had only a very blunt tool to

use which, in effect, is to revoke tax-exempt status of a charity
which pays excessive benefits. The practical reality is that it

doesn't work very well.

Also, we decided it would be a good idea to explore an intermedi-
ate action to address this private inurement problem. The Treasury
Department agrees with that. They have various things they would
like to talk about. I am delighted that Mr. Samuels is here.

I would like to again congratulate you in holding this meeting.
Chairman PiCKLE. Our witness this morning will be Les Sam-

uels, the Assistant Secretary of the Department of the Treasury,
who has been most cooperative as this proposal is being made. So,

Mr. Samuels, we are pleased to have you here this morning.
Do you want to go through your statement or do you want to

summarize it?

TESTIMONY OF HON. LESLIE B. SAMUELS, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR TAX POLICY, DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask that my written

statement be placed in the record and that I summarize it this

morning.
Chairman Pickle. Without objection, it will be printed entirely.

But, we would like for you to take such time as you think nec-
essary, or that you would like to have, to be sure we understand
clearly what you are proposing, so go right ahead.
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee,

I am pleased to present the administration's proposals to improve
compliance by public charities with the tax laws.
This subcommittee held hearings on this issue on June 15 and

August 2 of last year. The first hearing focused on the difficulties

the IRS has in enforcing the standards for tax exemption. The sec-

ond hearing illustrated the ways in which some charitable organi-

zations are misusing their resources. Together, the hearings show
the need for carefully targeted reform measures. We commend the
subcommittee for demonstrating the need for reform.

We have worked with the staffs of this subcommittee, the Ways
and Means Committee, and other appropriate committees to de-
velop a proposal that addresses the issues raised by the sub-
committee's hearings last year. I am here this morning to present
our proposal to you. We will continue to work with you and other
appropriate committees in considering necessary legislative action

regarding these issues.

I will begin by summarizing the standards for tax exemption and
the difficulties the IRS has had in enforcing these standards. Then



I will describe our proposals for improving compliance with these

standards.
Our proposal focuses primarily on two types of organizations

—

charitable organizations exempt from tax under section 501(c)(3) of

the Internal Revenue Code and social welfare organizations exempt
from tax under section 501(c)(4) of the code.

An orgEinization does not qualify for exemption under section

501(c)(3) simply by being charitable. It must also comply with rules

related to inurement and lobbying and political activities. Con-
sequently, an organization will not qualify for exemption under sec-

tion 501(c)(3) if any part of its net earnings inures to the benefit

of a private shareholder or individual. In addition, a section

501(c)(3) organization cannot engage in political activities or sub-

stantial lobbying activities.

Under current law, if an organization does not comply with the

rules regarding tax exemption, the only response available to the
IRS is to revoke the organization's exemption. The IRS has no less

drastic measure that it can take. This has caused the IRS diflRculty

in enforcing the rules regarding tax exemption, as the IRS Com-
missioner, Margaret Milner Richardson, told this subcommittee
last summer. Revoking an organization's tax exemption is a severe

penalty. In many cases, it could be too harsh for the violation in

question.

Let me give an example that illustrates this problem. Assume
that a large university pays one of its officers excessive compensa-
tion. This would result in inurement and would, therefore, violate

one of the rules for exemption. Taking away the university's ex-

emption, though, might not be an appropriate response. It could
harm the entire university community, including employees, stu-

dents, and area residents. Meanwhile, the officer would be able to

keep the money paid by the university.

Under current law, revoking the university's tax exemption is the

only action that the IRS can take. Consequently, the IRS would
have to choose between revoking the university's exemption or

doing nothing at all.

The difficulties that the IRS has had are illustrated by the cases
the subcommittee studied last summer. These cases show that a
number of charitable organizations are not using their resources in

the way they should. We do not think that these cases are wide-

spread or representative of the charitable community as a whole.

We are, nevertheless, concerned about these abusive cases.

These cases should also concern all charitable organizations that

comply with the rules. The bad apples undermine the public's con-

fidence in all charities. Consequently, charities should be interested

in stopping the abuses. In fact, one large group of nonprofits, the

INDEPENDENT SECTOR, has made proposals similar to the ones
that I will describe today.

We do not believe that the important evidence the subcommittee
and its staff have put together should be dismissed because it is

anecdotal. The cases studied by the subcommittee show that the

system is not working as it should. These cases simply should not

occur. When they do, the attention they get shakes the public's con-

fidence in all charities and in the tax system. Consequently, we be-
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lieve that carefully targeted intermediate sanctions are appro-
priate.

Because the vast majority of charities are doing what they
should, it does not mean that reforms are unnecessary. The infre-

quency of abusive cases, though, is important to keep in mind in

developing a response to the problem.
We do not think it would be wise to pursue sweeping new regula-

tion of public charities because some charities are not complying
with the rules. In particular, we do not think that the detailed re-

strictions that apply to private foundations should also apply to

public charities. Instead, the situation calls for a measured re-

sponse with sanctions targeted at the specific types of abuses the
subcommittee has identified.

As I have just mentioned, some section 501(c)(3) organizations,
referred to as private foundations, are subject to detailed restric-

tions today. In general, private foundations are organizations other
than churches, schools, and hospitals that are not publicly sup-
ported. The restrictions that apply to private foundations include
rules that, for the most part, prohibit any transaction between a
foundation and an insider, such as an officer, trustee or substfintial

contributor. Other detailed restrictions apply to the ways in which
a foundation can use its funds.
The restrictions on private foundations are enforced by a set of

excise taxes. These excise taxes follow a two-tiered approach. A
moderate tax applies when a violation first occurs. The parties then
have time to correct the violation. If they do not, a second tax ap-
plies that is more severe.

When Congress enacted the private foundation rules, it decided
that a private foundation should not be entitled to the benefits of

tax exemption, including the benefit of having contributors deduct
their contributions, and then give up its tax exemption and be free

to use its funds without restrictions. To prevent this from happen-
ing, the detailed restrictions on private foundations continue to

apply even after a foundation is no longer exempt. The restrictions

apply until the foundation either pays a tax equal to the benefits

of its tax exemption or transfers all of its assets to a legitimate
charity.

The restrictions that apply to private foundations do not apply to

churches, hospitals, or other public charities because public char-

ities are subject to public scrutiny that reduces the chance that
they will violate the rules. We believe that the distinction between
public charities and private foundations is still a valid distinction.

Therefore, we do not recommend making public charities comply
with the detailed restrictions that now apply to private founda-
tions. Doing so could make it difficult for public charities to carry
out legitimate charitable activities.

As an example, the self-dealing rules that apply to private foun-

dations would prevent a public charity from engaging in trans-

actions with insiders that benefit the cnarity. They would prevent
the charity, for example, from receiving a low-interest loan from an
insider or buying goods and services from an insider at a discount.

We believe that the public can continue to serve as an effective

watchdog to keep public charities honest. However, the cases of



11

abuses involving public charities show that the public can use some
help in performing its oversight role.

As I will discuss in a few minutes, our proposal includes not only

a targeted excise tax, but also certain disclosure measures. These
disclosure measures would provide the public with better access to

more information about public charities. The excise tax and the dis-

closure measures, taken together, should improve compliance by
public charities.

Now I would like to discuss our proposed excise tax. The tax
would apply to so-called excess benefits provided to an insider by
a section 501(c)(3) charitable orgEinization or a section 501(c)(4) so-

cial welfare organization. An excess benefit, put simply, is the ex-

cess of the value of what the organization gives an insider over the
value the organization receives in return. This means that the ex-

cise tax would apply to two types of transactions; first, a payment
of unreasonable compensation by an organization to an insider; and
second, a transfer in which an insider pays too little or an organi-
zation pays too much for the property transferred. The tax would
apply only to excess benefits paid to insiders. The insiders of an or-

ganization include its officers, directors, and trustees, and anyone
else who is in a position to exercise substantial influence over the
organization.

In addition, excess benefits provided to members of an insider's

family or to related entities would be treated as benefits provided
to the insider. Consequently, the insider would be subject to tax on
excess benefits provided to family members or related entities.

Also, if an insider receives a benefit afler he or she is no longer
an insider, the tax would still apply if the organization approved
the benefit, formally or informally, before the insider left the orga-
nization.

The subcommittee's hearings have focused on public charities ex-

empt under section 501(c)(3). Our proposed tax also would apply to

excess benefits provided by organizations exempt under section

501(c)(4). We believe this is important in light of health care re-

form. We expect health care reform to cause restructurings in the
health care market, including transactions involving health main-
tenance organizations that are exempt from tax under section

501(c)(4). This restructuring could provide insiders of health care
organizations with greater opportunities to divert to their benefit

the funds of the organizations.

By extending our proposed excise tax to benefits provided by sec-

tion 501(c)(4) organizations, we would deter insiders from trying to

take advantage of the restructuring of HMOs and other health care
organizations. For example, the tax would deter the board of an
HMO exempt under section 501(c)(4) from selling the HMO's assets
at a bargain price to a corporation owned by the board members.
A bargain sale like that one would be an excess benefit subject to

the proposed excise tax.

The application of our proposed excise tax would depend on fac-

tual questions like the reasonableness of compensation or the ade-
quacy of consideration. These questions would be resolved based on
all of the facts and circumstances. For example, in determining
whether compensation is reasonable, we would look at the nature
of the insider's duties, his or her background and experience, and
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the time devoted to the organization. We would also look at the
size of the organization, economic conditions, and the amount paid
by similar organizations to those who perform similar services. If

an independent governing body of an organization approved the
transaction in question, that fact would weigh in favor of deciding
that the compensation was reasonable or that the transfer involved
adequate consideration.

These factual questions would be resolved in the same way the
tax law resolves other factual questions. For example, if the IRS
decides that a salary is unreasonable and the taxpayer disagrees,

the taxpayer would oe entitled to use all of the normal review pro-

cedures, including, as necessary, administrative appeals and judi-

cial proceedings.
Benefits provided to an insider could be justified as reasonable

compensation only if the organization, in fact, provided the benefits

as compensation for services. In deciding whether a benefit was
given as compensation, all of the facts and circumstances would be
reviewed. For example, we would ask whether the appropriate deci-

sionmaking body approved the benefit as compensation and wheth-
er the organization and the insider reported the benefit as com-
pensation on the relevant tax forms. If an insider receives a benefit

and the benefit was not g^ven as compensation, that benefit would
be subject to the proposed excise tax. This would be true even if

the insider's total compensation would have been reasonable if the
benefit had been included in compensation.

I would like to turn to the mechanics of the tax. The proposed
excise tax would follow the two-tiered approach of the excise taxes

on private foundations. If an organization provides an excess bene-
fit to an insider, the insider would be subject to an initial tax of

25 percent of the amount of the excess benefit. The amount of the

excess benefit would be the portion of the compensation that is un-
reasonable or the difference between the price paid and the fair

market value of the property transferred. If the insider does not
repay the benefit with interest, the insider would be subject to a
second tax equal to 200 percent of the excess benefit. However, if

the insider repays the excess benefit within a specified period of

time, the second tax would not apply. In addition, the initial tax
would be waived or refunded if the insider establishes reasonable
cause.

If an insider repays an excess benefit, the repayment will be de-

ductible only to the extent that it was included in taxable income
in a prior year. Payment of the excise tax itself would be non-

deductible.
If a manager of an organization approves a transaction knowing

that it results in an excess benefit, the manager would be subject

to a tax of 10 percent of the excess benefit, up to a maximum of

$10,000. This tax is designed to ensure that managers who know-
ingly approve bad transactions bear the burdens of their actions.

Therefore, if an organization pays or reimburses a tax on the man-
ager, that would itself be an excess benefit, and the manager would
be subject to the 25-percent tax as an insider on such payment or

reimbursement.
If an excess benefit does not call into question whether the orga-

nization is really a charitable organization, the excise tax will oe
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the only penalty that applies. In these cases, revoking the organi-

zation's tax exemption would be too harsh a penalty. It would harm
the beneficiaries of the organization's charitable activities. In these

cases, we think the proposed excise tax by itself is the appropriate
response. On the other hand, if an organization provides an excess
benefit that is so egregious that the organization is not viewed as
a charitable organization, the proposed excise tax should apply,

and in addition, the organization should lose its exemption.
To ensure that both penalties apply, the excise tax would be im-

posed on excess benefits provided by an organization even after it

loses its exemption. Otherwise, an insider could divert the funds of

the organization to his own benefit once the organization was no
longer exempt.
The technical rules we propose for making sure that both pen-

alties apply when appropriate are based on uie rules applicable to

termination of private foundation status. Our proposed excise tax
would apply to excess benefits provided by a formerly exempt orga-
nization until the time that the organization either transfers its net
assets to another qualifying exempt organization or pays an exit

tax equal to the benefits of its tax exemption. This means that the
assets of an organization, to the extent they are attributable to the
organization's tax exemption, could not be diverted to the benefit
of insiders after the organization loses its tax exemption.
We expect that the Treasury would have its usual authority to

issue regulations to implement the excise tax, including regulations
to prevent avoidance of the tax.

Now I would like to briefly describe the disclosure measures that
we propose to help the public hold charitable charities accountable.
The main source of public information about tax-exempt organiza-
tions is the form 990 that they have to file each year. We would
like to improve both the information provided on the form and the
public's ability to get that information.

First, if the form 990 is to be effective in providing public over-
sight over exempt organizations, organizations must file complete
and accurate forms on time. A nuniber of organizations today file

forms that do not have all required information or provide inac-

curate information. This situation may exist because the penalties
for not meeting the filing requirements are relatively low. Today,
the penalty is only $10 a day and cannot be more than $5,000 or

5 percent of the organization's gross receipts for the year in ques-
tion.

To ensure that organizations file complete and accurate form
990s when they are required, we propose that the penalties be in-

creased. In particular, we would increase the daily penalty from
$10 to $100 for large organizations with $1 million of gross re-

ceipts, up to a maximum of $50,000 for any one return. For smaller
organizations, the daily penalty would be $20, up to a maximum
of $10,000 or 5 percent of the organization's gross receipts.

We also propose that form 990 be made available to the public.

Today, an organization must make its form 990 available for public
inspection at its offices. The penalty for failure to do so is $10 a
day, up to $5,000. We believe that interested members of the public

should not have to travel to an organization's office to be able to

79-659 0-94-2
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see its form 990. Also, we think that the pubHc should be entitled

to copies of the form, not just look at it.

We propose that organizations provide copies of their forms 990
to anyone who asks, so long as the person requesting the forms
pays a reasonable fee to cover copying and mailing costs. In addi-
tion, we believe that the public should know that an organization's
form 990 is available on request. Therefore, organizations would be
required to state in their fundraising solicitations that their forms
990 are available. Also, the penalties for failure to meet this re-

quirement would double from $10 to $20 per day, up to a maximum
of $10,000 per return.

We appreciate concerns that public charities could be subject to

organized campaigns in which large numbers of people request a
charity's tax return simply to harass it. We plan to develop rules
that would protect organizations from these campaigns. For exam-
ple, a limit might be placed on the number of requests that an or-

ganization would be required to fill within a given period. We
would appreciate the views of this subcommittee regarding appro-
priate means of addressing this issue.

We also propose adding to the information that an organization
must report on its form 990. The form should give the public a good
idea of whether the organization is meeting the rules for tax ex-

emption. Therefore, the payment of excise taxes for activities incon-
sistent with those rules should be reported. Consequently, an orga-
nization would be required to report the payment of excise taxes
on excessive lobbying expenses and also report any transaction in-

volving the payment of excess benefits subject to the proposed ex-

cise tax, including excess benefits for which the tax was waived be-
cause the insider repaid the benefit.

The form 990 should also let the public know of significEint

changes in the management of an organization. Thus, an organiza-
tion would report changes in the membership of its governing
board. Also, if an organization changes its public accounting firm,

the organization would disclose this fact as well on form 990.
Our colleagues at the IRS have been working with the sub-

committee staff to identify other ways in which form 990 may be
improved. Some of these changes have already been made and oth-

ers are planned. We welcome any further recommendations that
the subcommittee may have in this area.

Chairman PiCKLE. Mr. Samuels, I must interrupt you. We have
a vote on, and there are only a few minutes left. How much more
time will you need to complete your statement?
Mr. Samuels. I think I have about 3 or 4 more minutes.
Chairman PiCKLE. Go ahead. The rest of you can go vote, if you

want to. We will finish your testimony, and then we will have a
recess for approximately 10 minutes. Gro ahead.
Mr. Samuels. Finally, we propose one additional measure that is

not related to the rules for tax exemption, but would improve com-
pliance with the rules on deducting charitable contributions. Today,
an organization that is tax exempt is required to let contributors
know if contributions to the organization are not deductible. Some
contributors may believe, however, that a contribution to any non-
profit organization is deductible, even though not all nonprofits are
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exempt from tax. To minimize confusion, we would amend the rules

regarding the disclosure of nondeductible contributions.

Under the proposal, a nonprofit organization that refers to itself

as such in a fundraising solicitation would have to let potential

contributors know that their contributions are not deductible.

Mr. Chairman, these are the measures that the administration

proposes to improve compliance with the tax laws by public char-

ities and other tax-exempt organizations. Our proposal is a meas-
ured response to the type of abuses that have caused concern. The
proposed excise tax would deter insiders of an organization from
using their positions of influence to receive unreasonable com-
pensation or to cause the organization to enter into transfers at

other than fair market value.

In addition, our proposed disclosure measures would improve the

public's ability to hold exempt organizations accountable for the

ways in which they use their funds. On the other hand, our propos-

als would not interfere with legitimate exempt activities.

The administration's proposal would reduce the occurrences of

the types of abuses that have caused concern and restore con-

fidence in the charitable community. These goals are shared by all,

including the vast majority of charitable organizations that use
their funds for worthy charitable purposes. Therefore, we ask the

members of the subcommittee and the charitable community to

support our proposal and help us achieve these important goals.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my prepared remarks. I am avail-

able to answer any questions you or the other members may have
regarding the administration's proposals.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am pleased to present the Administration's views on the
important issue of the compliance with the tax laws by public
charities. This Subcommittee held hearings on June 15, 1993, and
August 2, 1993, regarding the administration of and compliance
with the tax laws applicable to public charities exempt from tax
under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the
"Code") . The first hearing focused on the difficulties
encountered by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") in
enforcing the standards for tax exemption. The second hearing
provided illustrations of the ways in which certain charitable
organizations are misusing their resources. Together, the
hearings provide a solid foundation for the conclusion that
carefully-targeted reform measures are needed to improve
compliance with tax laws by public charities. We commend the
Subcommittee for demonstrating the need for reform.

Working with the staffs of the Subcommittee, the Ways and
Means Committee, and other appropriate Committees, the
Administration has developed a proposal that addresses the issues
raised by the Subcommittee's prior hearings. Also, we are aware
of other proposals that relate to these issues. Consequently, to
facilitate the Subcommittee's consideration of solutions to this
important problem, I would like to present our proposal to
improve compliance with the tax laws by tax-exempt organizations.
After presenting our proposal, we will continue to work with you
and other appropriate Committees in considering necessary
legislative action.

I will begin by summarizing the relevant standards for
exemption under current law and the difficulties encountered by
the IRS in enforcing these standards. Next, I will describe the
detailed regulatory regime that the current law imposes on
private foundations. The private foundation rules provide a
useful frame of reference in considering measures to improve
compliance by other tax-exempt organizations. As I will explain,
however, we believe that it would be inappropriate to extend to
other organizations the detailed regulatory restrictions that
apply to private foundations. Finally, I will describe the

Administration's proposals for improving compliance with the tax
laws by tax-exempt organizations.

1. RELEVMIT BTAKDARDS FOR EXEMPTION DNDER CORRENT LAW

gggtion 501fcW3) oraanizatinns - Section 501(a) of the Codeexempts from income tax any organization described in section
501(c). Section 501(c)(3) refers to organizations that are
organized and operated exclusively for certain purposes,
including religious, charitable, or educational purposes. Inaddition to being organized and operated for a specified exempt
purpose, an organization seeking to qualify for exemption undersection 501(c)(3) must comply with statutory limitations oninurement as well as lobbying and political activities. In
?«f^^f^^"^' °" organization qualifies for exemption under section
501 (c (3) only if (1) no part of its net earnings inures to thebenefit of a private shareholder or individual, (2) no
substantial part of its activities consists of carrying on
prooaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and
(3) it does not participate or intervene in any political
campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, a particular
candidate.
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Section 50l(cW4) organizations . Section 501(c)(4) of the
Code refers to two categories of organizations. The first
category of organizations that qualify for exemption under that
section includes "[c]ivic leagues or organizations not organized
for profit but operated exclusively for the promotion of social
welfare." Among the more common of these social welfare
organizations are public interest organizations, lobbying
affiliates of charitable organizations exempt under section
501(c)(3), and health maintenance organizations. The second
category of organizations that qualify for exemption under
section 501(c)(4) includes certain "local associations of
employees" of limited membership. These employee associations
qualify for exemption, however, only if they devote their net
earnings exclusively to charitable, .educational, or recreational
purposes.

II. OIFFICai.TY OF ENFORCING CURRENT LAW STANDARDS FOR EXEMPTION
AND THE NEED FOR REFORM

Current law provides no sanction for violations of the
standards for tax exemption short of revocation of an
organization's exemption. As the Commissioner of Internal
Revenue, Margaret Milner Richardson, testified at the
Subcommittee's hearing on June 15, 1993, the absence of a
sanction short of revocation has created significant difficulties
for the IRS in enforcing the standards for tax exemption. Since
revocation is a severe sanction, it may be disproportional to the
violation in issue.

Assume, for example, that a large university pays one of its
officers excessive compensation. Although the resulting
"inurement" would violate one of the standards for tax exemption,
revoking the university's exemption could be an inappropriate
response. It could adversely affect the entire university
community: employees, students and area residents. Moreover, the
officer would be able to retain the excessive benefits received
from the university. Despite the potential inappropriateness of
revoking an organization's tax exemption in this type of case, it
is the only sanction provided under current law. Thus, the IRS
could be faced with the difficult choice of revoking the
organization's exemption or taJcing no enforcement action.

The cases discussed at the August 2, 1993 hearing which
involved misuses of resources by tax-exempt organizations
illustrate the difficulties the IRS has had in enforcing the
standards for exemption. Although we do not believe that the
cases of noncompliance are widespread or representative of the
charitable community as a whole, these cases cause us concern.

The cases of misused resources should also concern the vast
majority of tax-exempt organizations that fully comply with the
standards for exemption. These types of cases have shaken the
public's confidence in charitable organizations. Consequently,
charities should be interested in reducing the occurrence of
abuses, to prevent the further erosion of the reputation of the
charitable community as a whole. In recognition of this fact, at
least one large coalition of nonprofit organizations, INDEPENDENT
SECTOR, has made proposals to improve the performance and
accountability of public charities.

The evidence the Subcommittee and its staff have compiled
should not be dismissed because it is "anecdotal." The cases
studied by the Subcommittee and its staff demonstrate that the
system is not working as it should. These cases simply should
not occur. When they do, the notoriety they receive undermines
the public's confidence in the charitable community and in the
tax system. Consequently, we believe that a proposal for
carefully targeted intermediate sanctions is appropriate at this
time.
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Our belief that the cases of abuse the Subcommittee has
studied are not representative of the charitable community as a
whole should not forestall proposals for needed reforms. It
does, however, guide us in determining the scope of the
appropriate response. We believe that it would be unjustified to
pursue now sweeping new regulation of public charities on the
basis of the cases that have been the subject of Congressional
and media scrutiny. In particular, as explained in the following
section, extending to public charities the detailed regulatory
regime that applies to private foundations would be
inappropriate. Instead, the record compiled by the Subcommittee
calls for a measured response, with sanctions targeted at the
specific types of abuses the Subcommittee has identified.

HI. Regulatory Provisions Applicable to Prlvata Foundations

Current law imposes a detailed regulatory regime on a subset
of section 501(c) (3) organizations referred to as private
foiindations . In general, private foundations include all section
501(c) (3) organizations other than churches and church-related
organizations, schools, hospitals and medical research
organizations, and certain publicly-supported organizations.

Tax on self-dealing . Among the regulatory provisions that
apply to private foundations is an excise tax on "self-dealing."
Subject to narrow exceptions, any sales, leases, loans or other
transfers between a private foundation and a "disqualified
person" are acts of self-dealing. See generally Code S 4941(d).
The payment of reasonable compensation to a disqualified person,
however, is not self-dealing. Further, if a private foundation
makes goods, services or facilities available to the public,
providing them to a disqualified person on the same terms does
not result in self-dealing.

A person is a disqualified person in relation to a private
foundation if the person is a substantial contributor to the
foundation,' a foundation manager, or a person or entity related
to either. See generally Code S 4946. Foundation managers
Include the foundation's officers, directors, or trustees, or
those with similar responsibilities.

The tax on self-dealing follows a two-tiered approach. If
an act of self-dealing occurs, the disqualified person and any
foundation manager who knowingly participated in the self-dealing
are liable for initial taxes of 5 and 2.5 percent of the "amount
involved," respectively, for each year in the "taxable period."
The taxable period for an act of self-dealing begins when the act
occurs and ends with the later of (i) the -mailing of a notice of
deficiency for the initial tax, (ii) imposition of the initial
tax, or (iii) correction of the act of self-dealing.

If the act of self-dealing is not "corrected" within the
taxable period, the disqualified person and foundation manager
are liable for a second, more severe tax f i.e. . 200 and 50

' A substantial contributor to a private foundation is a
person who contributed or bequeathed to the foundation an
aggregate amount that exceeds the greater of $5,000 or 2 percent
of the total contributions and bequests received by the
foundation before the close of the year in which the foundation
receives the contribution or bequest from the person in question.
Code SS 507(d)(2); 4946(a)(2).
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percent of the amount involved, respectively) . The liability of
a foundation manager for either the initial or second tier tax is

limited to $10,000. Correction of an act of self-dealing
involves undoing the transaction to the extent possible and, in
any event, placing the private foundation in a financial position
no worse than it would have been had the disqualified person
acted in accordance with the highest fiduciary standards.

Tax on taxable expenditures . Section 4945 of the Code
imposes a separate two-tiered excise tax on "taxable
expenditures." Taxable expenditures include political or
lobbying expenditures, certain grants to organizations other than
public charities, and any other expenditures for noncharitable
purposes. The taxes on taxable expenditures apply to the
foundation itself and to any foundation manager who agreed to the
expenditure. The initial tax on the foundation is 10 percent of
the taxable expenditure. The initial tax on the manager is 2.5
percent of the taxable expenditure, subject to a limit of $5,000.
If the taxable expenditure is not corrected within the taxable
period, the foundation is subject to an additional tax of 100
percent of the taxable expenditure, and the manager is subject to
a tax of 50 percent of the taxable expenditure. The additional
tax on the manager, however, is limited to $10,000.

Abatement of taxes . If an event that gave rise to an excise
tax under the private foundation rules is corrected within a
prescribed "correction period," the second tier tax is waived,
and any tax collected is credited or refunded. The correction
period begins when the taxable event occurs and generally ends
(subject to certain extensions) 90 days after the date of mailing
of a notice of deficiency for a second tier tax.

If the taxable event was due to reasonable cause and not
willful neglect, the first tier tax is waived, and any tax
collected is credited or refunded. The abatement of first tier
tax, however, does not apply to a tax on self-dealing.

Termination of private foundation status . In enacting the
private foundation rules. Congress was concerned that a private
foundation not be allowed to receive deductible contributions and
be exempt from tax on its income, and then terminate its section
501(c)(3) status after building up its endowment, so that it
would be free to use its resources for non-charitable purposes.
To prevent this result, section 507 of the Code provides that an
organization's status as a private foundation subject to the
detailed regulatory restrictions terminates only when the
organization pays an exit tax equal to the lesser of the value of
its net assets or the cumulative, aggregate tax benefit resulting
from its qualification for exemption under section 501(c)(3).
The aggregate tax benefit is computed taking into account not
only the tax the foundation would have paid on its own income had
it not been exempt, but also the additional tax that substantial

contributors to the foundation would have paid had their
contributions not been deductible. The Secretary may abate the
exit tax, however, to the extent that the foundation distributes
its net assets to one or more other charitable organizations in
existence for at least 60 calendar months.

Rationale for distinction between public charities and
private foundations . When Congress enacted the regulatory
provisions applicable to private foundations in 1969, it declined
to extend those provisions to churches, hospitals, and other
"public charities" on the grounds that they are subject to public
scrutiny that reduces the risk of misconduct. The distinction
drawn by Congress in 1969 between public charities and private
foundations remains valid today. Therefore, full extension of
the private foundation rules to public charities would be
inappropriate and could hinder their ability to perform
legitimate charitable activities. For example, the self-dealing
rules would, prevent a public charity from engaging in
transactions with insiders that are favorable to the charity,
such as receiving a low-interest loan fl^om an insider, or
purchasing of goods or services from an insider at a substantial
discount.



20

Although we are concerned about the level of compliance by
certain public charities with the standards for tax exemption,
these concerns are not as great as those that led to the
enactment of the private foundation rules in 1969. Public
charities continue to face public accountability that reduces the
risk that they will use their resources in ways that are
inconsistent with their tax-exempt purposes. The documented
cases of noncompliance by public charities, however, demonstrate
a need to improve the ability of the public to serve in the
"watchdog" role envisioned for it in 1969. As I will explain
later, our proposal includes (i) an excise tax targeted to types
of transactions where significant abuses may occur, and (ii)
disclosure measures that would provide the public with better
access to more information regarding public charities. These
measures, taken together, should adequately improve compliance by
public charities and improve the public's ability to hold
charities accountable.

IV. Proposals to Improve Compliance by Tax-Exempt Organizations

The Administration's proposal to improve compliance by tax-
exempt organizations includes a new excise tax and several
measures that would strengthen the disclosure requirements that
apply to tax-exempt organizations. The excise tax is targeted at
the types of abuses that have generated concern and would provide
a substantial deterrent to these abuses. The new disclosure
requirements would increase the information regarding tax-exempt
organizations available to the public. This would improve the
public's ability to hold these organizations accountable for the

ways in which they use their resources.

A. Tax on "EzcasB Benefits"

Transactions subject to tax . The excise tax would apply to
any "excess benefit" provided to an insider by an organization
exempt from tax under section 501(c)(3) or 501(c)(4). The excise
tax would not apply, however, to benefits provided by a private
foundation to which the excise taxes described in the preceding
section are applicable.

An excess benefit is the excess of the value of any benefit
provided by the organization over the consideration received by
the organization in return for the benefit. The consideration
received by the organization may include services provided by the
insider. The tax would apply to two types of transactions: the
payment of unreasonable compensation by an organization or a non-
fair market value transfer in which an insider pays inadequate
consideration for property transferred, leased, licensed or
loaned by the organization, or the organization pays excessive
consideration for property transferred, leased, licensed or
loaned by the insider.

The insiders who would be subject to the tax include (i) the
officers, directors, and trustees of an organization and (ii)
those otherwise in a position to exercise substantial influence
over the organization's affairs. Excess benefits provided to
members of an insider's family^ or entities in which an insider
or family members have significant direct or indirect beneficial
interests would be treated as provided on behalf of the insider;
thus the insider would be subject to tax on these benefits. An
excess benefit provided to a former insider would be subject to
tax if the relevant decision-making body of the organization,
formally or informally, approved the benefit when the recipient
was an insider.

' The members of an individual's family would be determined

under section 4946(d) of the Code, which would be amended (for

purposes of both the private foundation rules and the proposed

excise tax) to include an individual's siblings as members of the

individual's family.
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Although the Subcommittee's hearings focused on misuses of
resources by public charities exempt from tax under section
501(c)(3), our proposed excise tax applies to benefits provided
by organizations exempt under section 501(c) (4) as well. The
restructuring of the health care market expected to result from
health reform could provide greater opportunities for insiders of
health care organizations, including health maintenance
organizations exempt under section 501(c)(4), to divert to the
insiders' own benefit the resources of these organizations.
Extending the proposed excise tax to benefits provided by section
501(c)(4) organizations would deter insiders from seeking to take
advantage of the restructuring of HMOs and other health care
organizations. If, for example, the board of an HMO exempt under
section 501(c)(4) cause the HMO to sell its assets at a bargain
price to a for-profit corporation controlled by the board
members, the transaction would result in an excess benefit
subject to the proposed excise tax.

Factual determinations . The reasonableness of compensation
or the adequacy of consideration would be determined based on all
of the facts and circumstances. The reasonableness of
compensation is a question of relevance to taxable businesses,
because section 162 of the Code allows a deduction for
compensation only to the extent that it is reasonable. Those
factors relevant in determining the reasonableness of
compensation for purposes of section 162 would also be relevant
for purposes of the proposed excise tax. These factors include
the nature of the insider's duties, his background and
experience, and the time he devotes to the organization, the size
of the organization, general and local economic conditions, and
the amount paid by similar organizations to those who perform
similar services.

The approval of the compensation or transfer by an
Independent governing body of the organization would weigh in
favor of a finding of reasonableness or adequate consideration.
The weight to be given to this factor would depend on the
circumstances. For example, approval by a nominally independent
governing body may be given little weight if the governing body
is comprised of close friends of the organization's founder and
president who routinely endorse proposals made by that person.
On the other hand, approval by a governing body would be given
greater weight if the governing body is truly independent and has
a demonstrated record of taking its fiduciary responsibilities
seriously.

Determinations of the reasonableness of compensation would
be made in accordance with the procedures that govern the
resolution of any factual question involved in the application of
a tax rule. Therefore, taxpayers who disagree with an IRS
determination of unreasonableness would have recourse to the
normal review procedures, including, as necessary, administrative
appeals and judicial proceedings.

Benefits provided to an insider can be justified as
reasonable compensation only if the organization in fact provided
the benefits as compensation for services. The determination of
whether a benefit was intended to be compensatory would be made
based on all the facts and circumstances. The relevant facts
would include whether the appropriate decision-making body
approved the transfer as compensation in accordance with
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established procedures and whether the organization and the
recipient reported the transfer as compensation on the relevant
forms f i.e. . the organization's Form 990, the Form W-2 provided
by the organization to the individual, and the individual's Form
1040) . If a non-fair market value transfer is not made as
compensation for services, it would be subject to the new excise
tax even if the insider's compensation would have been reasonable
had the transfer been compensatory.

Imposition of tax . The tax on excess benefits would follow
the two-tiered format of the excise taxes on private foundations.
If an organization provides an excess benefit to an Insider or a
related person or entity, the insider would be subject to an
initial tax of 25 percent of the amount of the excess benefit

—

that is, the portion of compensation that is unreasonable, or the
difference between the price paid and the fair market value of
property transferred. If the insider does not repay the excess
benefit with appropriate interest within a prescribed period, the
insider would be subject to a second tax, equal to 200 percent of
the excess benefit. If the insider repays the excess benefit
with appropriate interest within a prescribed correction period,
the second tier tax would be waived or refunded. The initial tax
would be waived or refunded only if the excess benefit was
provided due to reasonable cause.

Under established tax benefit principles, repayment of an
excess benefit by an insider would be deductible only to the
extent that the receipt of the excess benefit increased the
insider's taxable income for a prior year. Payment of the tax
itself would be nondeductible.

If a manager of an organization approves a transaction
knowing that it results in an excess benefit, the manager would
be subject to a tax of 10 percent of the excess benefit, up to a

maximum of $10,000. To ensure that the manager bears the
economic burden of the tax, any payment or reimbursement by the
organization of a tax imposed on a manager would itself be
treated as an excess benefit provided to the manager. Thus, the
manager would be subject to the excise tax as an insider on such
payment or reimbursement.

Relationship between excise tax and revocation . The excise
tax on excess benefits would be the sole sanction available in
those cases in which the excess benefit does not rise to the
level that it calls into question whether the organization is a
charitable organization. As discussed above, in these cases,
revocation is an inappropriate sanction because it is unduly
severe and would adversely affect the beneficiaries of the
organization's charitable activities. Revocation is an
appropriate sanction only when the organization no longer
operates as a charitable organization.

If an organization provides an excess benefit that is so
egregious that the organization is not viewed as a charitable
organization, the proposed excise tax would apply and, in
addition, the organization would be subject to revocation of its
exemption. To accomplish this result, the excise tax would apply
to benefits provided by an organization even after it loses its
exemption, otherwise, an insider who received a benefit that
caused the organization to lose its exemption could avoid the tax
by "correcting" the benefit and then causing the organization to
repay the benefit to the insider when the organization is no
longer exempt.
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In determining the circumstances in which the excise tax
should continue to apply to benefits provided by an organization
that loses its tax exemption, the private foundation rules
provide a useful analogy with the rules of section 507 related to
the termination of private foundation status. Our proposal
includes rules similar to those of section 507, under which the
excise tax would apply to benefits provided by a formerly exempt
organization prior to the time that the' organization either
transfers its net assets to another qualifying exempt
organization or pays an exit tax. The exit tax would be computed
in the same manner as the tax provided in section 507(c) ( i.e. .

the lesser of net asset value or the cumulative, aggregate tax
benefit from qualification under section 501(c)(3) or (4)).
Thus, the assets of an organization, to the extent attributable
to its exemption under section 501(c)(3) or (4), could not be
diverted to the benefit of insiders after the organization loses
its exemption.

We envision having customary authority to promulgate such
regulations as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the
purposes and prevent avoidance of the excise tax.

Example . Perhaps the best way to illustrate our proposed
excise tax is to describe how it would apply to one of the cases
addressed in the Subcommittee's hearings last year. For purposes
of illustration, I will use the case described on page 147 of the
hearing record (Serial 103-39) . This case involves a section
501(c)(3) organization that provides health care in a clinic type
setting. The organization's board of directors is controlled by
the CEO and a small number of persons with whom the CEO or the
organization itself have substantial business dealings.

The total compensation package of the CEO exceeded $1
million. The organization also made substantial credit card
payments and cash disbursements for personal expenditures,
including liquor, china, perfume, crystal, theater and airline
tickets.

The CEO's compensation would be an excess benefit, subject
to the excise tax, to the extent that it were determined to be
unreasonable. The reasonableness of the CEO's compensation would
be assessed looking at all of the facts and circumstances,
including the nature of the CEO's duties and the compensation
paid by similar organizations to those who perform similar
duties. The means by which the organization determined the
compensation it paid the CEO would also be relevant. In this
case, although the organization's board presumably approved the
CEO's salary, the facts suggest that the board is not truly
independent. The CEO appears to have substantial influence over
the board. Therefore, even assuming that the board approved the
compensation, that fact would be given very little weight in this
particular case.

If a portion of the CEO's compensation were determined to be
unreasonable, the CEO would be subject to a tax of 25 percent of
the unreasonable portion of the compensation. In addition, any
manager of the organization who approved the compensation knowing
that it was unreasonable would be subject to a tax of 10 percent
of the excess benefit, up to a maximum of $10,000. If the CEO
did not repay the excessive portion of the compensation within a
prescribed period, the CEO would be subject to an additional tax
equal to 200 percent of the excess benefit.

In determining the reasonableness of the CEO's compensation,
the payments of personal expenses would be treated as
compensation only if the organization made the payments in
compensation for the CEO's services. The compensatory nature of
the payments could be demonstrated, for example, by board
approval of the payments as compensation or by the reporting of
these payments as compensation on the relevant Forms 990, W-2 and
1040.
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The facts in this case indicate that the payments of
personal expenses were not part of the CEO's authorized
compensation. If the payments were not compensatory, the full
zunount of the payments would be excess benefits, subject to the
proposed tax. The tax would apply even if the CEO's total
compensation would have been reasonable had these expenditures
been included in his compensation. If the payments were not in
fact compensatory, they could not be justified as reasonable
compensation.

B. Fanaltias for Failur* to Meet Form 990 Filing
Requiriuaents

As previously noted, public charities are not subject to the
detailed regulatory regime that applies to private foundations
because public scrutiny reduces the risk of misconduct by public
charities. The effectiveness of public scrutiny depends on the
availability of relevant information about public charities. The
primary vehicle for this information is the Form 990, which most
tax-exempt organizations must file annually.' The
Administration's proposal includes several measures to improve
both the information provided on the Form 990 and the
availability of that information to the public.

The Form 990 can serve as an effective vehicle for providing
public oversight of charitable organizations only if those
organizations file timely, complete and accurate forms. As the
Subcommittee's hearings have demonstrated, compliance with the
filing requirement has been poor in many instances. A number of
organizations file incomplete or inaccurate Forms 990.

Noncompliance with the Form 990 filing requirement may be
largely attributable to the relatively low applicable penalties.
The penalty under current law for a failure to file a timely,
complete and accurate Form 990 is only $10 for each day during
which the failure continues. Further, the maximum penalty for
any one return cannot exceed the lesser of $5,000 or 5 percent of
the gross receipts of the organization for the year.

To improve compliance with the Form 990 filing requirement,
the Administration's proposal would increase the penalty for a
failure to file a timely, complete and accurate Form 990 from $10
to $100 a day for organizations with gross receipts in excess of
$1 million for the year, subject to a maximum of $50,000 for any
one return. For organizations with gross receipts of $1 million
or less, the penalty would be increased to $20 a day, with the
maximum for any one return limited to the lesser of $10,000 or 5

percent of the gross receipts of the organization for the year.

C. Proviaion of Copies of Return, Applications Cor
Ezanption

The Form 990 must be readily available to the public if it
is to effectively facilitate public oversight of charitable

' Certain organizations are exempted by statute from filing
a Form 990. These organizations are (i) churches and certain
church-related organizations, and (ii) certain organizations that
normally have annual gross receipts of $5,000 or less. In
addition, the filing requirement does not apply to the
exclusively religious activities of a religious order. The
statute provides the Secretary with the authority to relieve
other organizations from the filing requirement. This authority
has been exercised to exempt from filing, for example,
organizations other than private foundations that normally have
annual gross receipts of not more than $25,000. For a list of
other organizations exempted from the filing requirement by
administrative discretion, see section 1. 6033-2 (g) (1) of the
regulations and Revenue Procedures 83-23, 1983-1 C.B. 687, and
86-23, 1986-1 C.B. 564.
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organizations. Current law requires an organization other than a
private foundation to make available for public inspection those
portions of its Form 990 that do not include information
regarding contributors to the organization. The form must be
available at the organization's principal office and at any
regularly-maintained regional or district office that has more
than 3 employees. The organization must also make available
copies of any application for exemption filed with the IRS, any
papers submitted in support of the application, and any letter or
document issued by the IRS in response to the application. An
organization that fails to make available a return or application
for exemption is subject to a penalty under section 6652(c)(1)(C)
of $10 for each day on which the failure continues, subject td a
maximum of $5,000 for failures with respect to any one return.
If the failure is willful, however, a separate penalty of $1,000
applies with respect to each return or application for exemption.

Public oversight of charitable organizations is
significantly hindered by the fact that interested members of the
public must travel to an office of an organization to inspect its
Form 990 and any application for exemption. Further,
organizations are required only to allow inspection of the
relevant forms, they are not required to provide copies of the
forms to interested members of the public.

To improve the public's access to relevant information
regarding exempt organizations, the Administration's proposal
requires these organizations to provide copies of their Forms 990
and applications for exemption and related materials to any
person who requests these documents and pays a reasonable fee to
cover copying and mailing costs. The Secretary of the Treasury
would promulgate regulations regarding reasonable fees that
could, for example, specify a per page limit. Organizations
would also be required to take measures to ensure that the public
knows of the availability of their Forms 990. In particular, an
organization would be required to include in its fundraising
solicitations an express statement regarding the availability of
its Form 990.

The Administration's proposal would increase the penalty
under section 6652(c)(1)(C) from $10 to $20 per day. The maximum
penalty per return would be increased from $5,000 to $10,000.

We intend to develop rules to protect organizations from the
burdens of complying with requests for documents made as part of
an organized harassment campaign. One approach to this issue
would be to apply a limit on the number of requests that the
organization would be required to fulfill within a given period.
We would appreciate the views of the Subcommittee regarding
appropriate means of addressing this issue.

D. Additional Infomation to b* Frovidsd on Fom 990

The Form 990 should provide the public with all information
related to the consistency of the organization's activities with
the standards for tax exemption. Both current law and the
Administration's proposal include excise taxes on activities
inconsistent with the standards for exemption. As described
above, the Administration's proposal includes a tax on excess
benefits that would generally violate the prohibition on
inurement. Under current law, sections 4911 and 4912 impose
taxes on excess and disqualifying lobbying expenses. To ensure
that the public has access to information regarding transactions
that give rise to these excise taxes, the Administration's
proposal requires an organization to report on its Form 990 the
payment of tax imposed by section 4911 or section 4912, and
transactions involving the payment of excess benefits subject to
the proposed excise tax, including excess benefits for which the
tax was asserted but then waived due to repayment.
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The Tojrm 990 should also provide interested members of the
public with information regarding significant changes in the
management of an organization. Therefore, the Administration's
proposal would require an organization to report on its Form 990
changes in the membership of its governing board, and a change in

the identity of the certified public accounting firm retained by
the organization to examine its books and records.

Our colleagues at the IRS have been working with the
Subcommittee staff to identify means by which the Form 990 may be
improved. As a result of these efforts, the IRS has already made
several changes to the Form, including the separate listing of
cash and noncash contributions and expenditures, and expanded
information about transactions involving key employees or related
persons. In addition, the IRS is studying the issue of the
reporting of fundraising fees and activities. We welcome any
further recommendations that the Subcommittee may have in this
area

.

E. DiaoloBur* of Nonezempt Status

He propose one additional measure that, although not
directly related to compliance with the standards for tax
exemption, would improve compliance with the provisions regarding
the deductibility of charitable contributions. Section 170
allows a deduction for contributions or gifts to or for the use
of certain types of organizations, including those that are
exempt under section 501(c)(3). Many organizations that are tax-
exempt, however, are not eligible to receive tax-deductible
contributions. Prior to 1988, tax-exempt or other nonprofit
organizations were not required to disclose to potential
contributors that contributions to these organizations are
nondeductible. Section 6113 of the Code, enacted as part of the

Revenue Act of 1987, requires such a disclosure by tax-exempt
organizations ineligible to receive deductible contributions.
Contributors could mistakenly believe, however, that they can
deduct contributions to any nonprofit organization. Therefore,
the Administration's proposal would amend section 6113 so that a

nonprofit organization that refers to itself as such in a
fundraising solicitation would have to disclose that
contributions to the organization are not deductible.

Mr. Chairman, these are the measures the Administration
proposes to improve compliance with the tax laws by public
charities and certain other tax-exempt organizations. Our
proposal is a measured response to the types of abuses that have
caused concern. The proposed excise tax on excess benefits would
deter insiders of an organization from using their positions of
influence to receive unreasonable compensation or to cause the
organization to enter into non-fair market value transfers. In
addition, our proposed disclosure measures would significantly
improve the public's ability to hold Exempt organizations
accountable for the ways in which they use their resources. On
the other hand, our proposals would not interfere with legitimate
exempt activities.

The Administration's proposal would substantially reduce the
occurrence of the types of abuses that have caused concern,
thereby restoring confidence in the charitable community. These
are goals shared by all, including the vast majority of
charitable organizations that devote their resources to worthy
charitable purposes. Therefore, we ask the members of the
Subcommittee and the charitable community to support our proposal
and help us achieve these important goals.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my prepared remarks. I am
available at this time to answer any questions you or the other
members may have regarding the Administration's proposal.
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Chairman Pickle. Mr. Samuels, we thank you very much for a
very detailed and very valuable statement. We will come back for
questioning and comments from the members, but I am going to
call a recess for approximately 10 minutes. We will be back then.

[Recess.]

Chairman Pickle. Mr. Samuels, again, I want to commend you
for your statement and for your detailed explanation of how it

works. I personally think that your statement ought to be required
reading by every tax-exempt organization in the country because,
if they don't read it, some of them are going to get a rude awaken-
ing.

I want you to know that I personally endorse what you said, and
I like the general thrust of your proposal. I think Mr. Houghton
also agrees with it, as well as most of the members of this sub-
committee. The question now is how do we move it forward.

I want to ask you some very general questions, and then I will

yield to other members of the subcommittee. How do you propose
that we move this legislation forward? What are your plans? Can
you tell us how you would like it to be advanced?
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, our plan is that we present the

proposal today to this subcommittee; that we would receive your
comments and questions; and then we would move to drafting leg-

islative language, so that the matter could be moved at the appro-
priate time.

Chairman Pickle. How long will it take you to draft that lan-

guage?
Mr. Samuels. I think as soon as we get your comments, we can

start working on it, and I don't think that it should take more than
a couple of weeks.
Chairman PiCKLE. All right. That is a possibility. We might have

it ready by Easter then. That is good.

Can you tell me what effective date you would recommend for

this legislation?

Mr. Samuels. We would propose that the effective date be for

transactions after today.

Chairman PiCKLE. Today would be the effective day?
Mr. Samuels. Today would be the effective day.

Chairman PiCKLE. March 16.

Can you tell me, if you know, what has been the general reaction

of tax-exempt organizations with respect to this proposal? Have you
had a chance to visit with them and exchange general views?
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, in developing this proposal, we

have been in contact with members of the charitable and tax-ex-

empt community, and we believe that, based on those conversa-

tions, they would support this type of proposal.

Chairman PiCKLE. Can you tell me whether you think this would
meet with approval in the other body?
Mr. Samuels. We have had some discussions with staff of the

relevant Senate committees, and we understand that certain Sen-

ators are concerned about this issue, and particularly on the issue

of the public's confidence in charities. So, based on this understand-
ing, we believe that the Senate would be receptive to this type of

proposal.
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Chairman Pickle. I think this subcommittee will attempt to

complete its recommendation and a report as quickly as possible,

just as soon as we have this proposal officially before us. So we
won't be sitting back and letting it gather cobwebs. We will move
it forward, I think, as quickly as possible.

I need to ask you one other question. These recommendations in-

clude excise taxes, and that would mean supervision and oversight
over possible violations, and it means additional revenue for the
IRS. It also would mean putting on additional people, additional

staff, because all through your testimony you talk about the
understafifing of the IRS in this fieM. Actually, the trend has gone
down in recent years. So here we are going down, less support, less

funding, less personnel, and yet, you comment that you want excise

taxes.
I assume that part of the additional personnel needed would be

paid for by your excise taxes. So, if you can, give me some general
idea with respect to the tier-one excise taxes. Do you have any idea
what the tier-one tax would bring in?

Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, we have a preliminary revenue es-

timate that applies to the entire proposal.
Chairman PiCKLE. All right.

Mr. Samuels. That preliminary estimate is that the proposal
would raise approximately $65 million over 5 years. I do not have
the breakdown of the various excise taxes as components of the
proposal.
Chairman Pickle. When vou say this much revenue, would that

include also penalties from milure to fill out form 990?
Mr. Samuels. Correct, from the entire proposal. So it would be

the excise taxes and the various disclosure-related penalties.

Chairman PiCKLE. That is very helpful.

Now let me yield to Mr. Houghton for any questions he might
have at this point.

Mr. Houghton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
First of all, I would like to ask unanimous consent to be able to

have these questions by Mr. Santorum, who unfortunately couldn't

be here, submitted into the record, also for an answer by Mr. Sam-
uels.

Chairman PiCKLE. Without objection, Mr. Houghton, that will be
included in the record.

[The information of Mr. Santorum follows:!



R'CK SANTORUM

I OC 205I5-38IS

29

Congrcg£( of tfje ?Hniteb ^tateg „<::.;;;;:;:•:;;

^ou8t of iRcprffitntatibes "ZZ7"
Wasljington. 3B£ 20515-3818 """"/'."."oi"

March 16, 1994

Before the Ways and Means Oversight Subcommittee

Questions for: The Honorable Leslie B. Samuels, Assistant
Secretary of the Treasury for Tax Policy

Submitted by: The Honorable Rick Santorum

It has been brought to my attention that the IRS is about to
issue a ruling regarding multiple membership classes in tax
exempt organizations. Under this ruling certain 501(c) exempt
organizations would face the prospect of membership dues being
classified as unrelated trade or business income under Section
511 of the Internal Revenue Code. It is on this point that I

would request clarification.

Currently many Section 501(c) organizations rely on the
following Code sections and regulations:

Section 1.513-l(a) - states, in part, that gross income of
an exempt organization subject to tax Imposed by section 511 of
the Code is Includible in the computation of unrelated business
taxable Income if: (1) it is Income from trade or business, (2)
such trade or business is regularly carried on by the
organization, and (3) the conduct of such trade or business is

not substantially related (other than through the production of
funds) to the organization's performance of its exempt function.

Section 1.513-l(b) - defines "trade or business" as having
the same meaning as under section 162, and generally includes any
activity carried on for the production of income from the sale of
goods or performance of services...

Section 1 . 513-l(d) ( 1 ) - "provides that gross income Is

derived from an unrelated trade or business if the conduct of the
trade or business is not substantially related to the purpose for
which exemption is granted"

Section 1 . 513-l(d) ( 2 ) - provides that a trade or business is
"related" to exempt purposes, in the relevant sense, only when
the conduct of the business activities has casual relationship to
the achievement of the exempt purposes... and substantially
related for purposes of section 513, only if the causal
relationship is a substantial one.

79-659 0-94-3
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The IRS has previously applied these regulations to the
question of multiple classes of membership and held that the
collection of membership dues is substantially related to the
performance of an organizations exempt purpose.

My questions today deal with these previous interpretations,
and the Treasury Departments position in light of the regulations
cited

.

1. Specifically, is it the Treasury Department's position
that the collection of dues by exempt organizations is a "trade
or business"?

2. If the collection of dues is considered a "trade or
business" how would the collection of these dues be characterized
under Section 1 . 513-1 (d) ( 2 )

?

3. Is it the Treasury Department's position that the
collection of membership dues is not "substantially related" to
the exempt purpose of a 501(c) organization?

4. If such dues are not "substantially related" then how
would the Treasury Department suggest that these organizations
pursue their exempted purposes?

5. If dues where to be considered unrelated taxable business
income how would such a ruling be reconciled with the
regulations? Is it your positian that authority for such a
ruling is presently contained in the regulations?

6. In view of the cited regulations does the authority exist
for a ruling determining that membership dues are not
substantially related to the exempt organizations goals?

7. Does the authority exist as written in the regulations or
is this a new interpretation that would disregard previous
positions on this subject?

8. If the service were to take the position that membership
dues are not substantially related to the exempt purpose of an
organization, how would such a ruling be applied to exempt
organizations? Would it be a facts and circumstances test?

9. If the test is a facts and circumstances approach has the
inefficiency of applying such a test to each organization under
any new ruling been considered?

10. Has the increase in administrative burdens of issuing
rulings to the exempt organizations effected by this ruling been
considered by the Treasury Department?
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Mr. Houghton. Thank you.
Mr. Samuels, I have several specific questions. I will hold off on

those for a moment, but I would like to ask you a general question.

I understand what you are trying to do. I applaud what you are
trying to do. I think it is a practical approach of not taking a blun-

derbuss attitude toward egregious handlings of public money, but
I wonder about the forms and the procedures that you say that you
are going to expand on the use of form 990.
The question I have is this. There are an awful lot of people out

there in public foundations that haven't done anything wrong. They
are complying. They are good citizens. They do everything they are

asked to do. Is this going to be really an undue burden on them?
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Houghton, we don't expect that it will be an

undue burden, and I would refer to the following factors.

First, the public charities will be reimbursed by the person ask-

ing for the information for the cost of providing the information. It

will be a per-page duplicating cost and also the postage cost. So we
are not asking these public charities to pay out of their own pocket
for the cost of reproducing and sending out this information.

Second, under current law, form 990s are required to be avail-

able for inspection. So the public charities already have to comply
with that requirement, complete the form 990, file it with the IRS,
and maintain it in their offices.

What we are asking is that they send the form on request and
upon payment of the appropriate charge to someone who asked for

it. So we don't believe that this is going to cause an undue burden.
As I mentioned in my testimony, we are concerned about situa-

tions where there could be potential harassment of a public charity

by a group that just keeps writing in asking for forms, and as I

have said, we would like to work with the committee to think about
the appropriate rule to prevent this type of harassment activity.

Mr. Houghton. Could I just interrupt a minute? I understand
that, and I think it is a good idea. I think that is going to be very
critical, but what I was reaching for is this. You have indicated

that it is not only appropriate to have information sent to people

rather than have them come to the individual foundation offices

and then they will be reimbursed, but also there are other changes.

You say form 990 should also provide interested members of the

public information regarding significant changes in the manage-
ment of an organization. I don't know whether they do that now
or not, but it just seems to me that in terms of greater communica-
tion, you are going to put a greater burden on those people, and
that has nothing to do with mailing out information. I don't believe

in itself that is wrong as long as something else can be given up
or simplified in order to have this come into place.

Mr. Samuels. Mr. Houghton, the additional information that we
are suggesting involves changes of management; that is, if there

are new directors added and old directors who have retired or re-

signed, that that be put in the form 990; and in addition, if the or-

ganization has a certified public accountant that they change, that

they report that. This is the type of information that a public com-
pany would normally be required to put in their public proxy mate-
rials.
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Mr. Houghton. If that is the extent of it, it doesn't bother me.
I just didn't know what other elaboration on the description of
what they are doing and why they are doing it was going to come
into play here.
Mr. Samuels. Those are the main points. In addition, if a public

charity is actually subject to the excise tax because they have made
an
Mr. Houghton. No, I understand that.
Mr. Samuels. We think that they should disclose that.

Mr. Houghton. Fine. Thank you very much.
Chairman PiCKLE. Mr. Range!.
Mr. Rangel. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me congratulate

both of you for the good job you have done. Most of us recognize
the ^eat work that is done by public charities, damaged in the
public's sight by the wrongdoings of so few.
One of the great things about our tax system is that we do have

deterrence. I was wondering how can we, without condemning all

of the people that do such fine work, show that we are fully aware
that there are people that are out there that abuse the system.
And, even though we are short of auditors, that we do intend to

review this and to hold them to a high standard.
In my community, unfortunately, we have more than our share

of charlatans that are responsible for gigantic fundraisers that pro-
vide no services at all, except to their immediate families, and I do
hope that there is some way, without offending the charitable fam-
ily, that we can announce this reasonable and effective plan that
you have presented to the Congress.
Mr. Samuels, Mr. Rangel, our intention is to target these sanc-

tions to the public charities that engage in abusive practices and
not to interfere with the excellent work of the public charities who
are complying with the rules.

Mr. Rangel. I am confident that you won't be harassing those
that are doing good work. What I was hoping is that you could
have some type of a press conference to alert the community that
you are there and that you are monitoring, and you might give as-

surances that you are not there to bother the others, but I really

want to send a signal to those people who recognize that there is

a very little chance of audit because of your limited staff.

I ioin with the chairman in hoping that you can find some ways
of identifying revenue, so that we can support you in resources.
Mr. Samuels. We will certainly consider that, and we are hoping

that this hearing will be reported and send a message that we have
a proposal that will provide a serious deterrent to those who are
engaging in these abusive types of transactions, and we will con-
sider other ways of trying to make sure that the message is sent
out to the public charity community.
Chairman Pickle. Have you completed your questioning, Mr.

Rangel?
Mr. Rangel. Yes, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Pickle. Mr. Samuels, in connection with Mr. Rangel's

concern about the notification to the organization, that these
changes come back, I think it ought to be made plain that the pro-

posal that you have pertains to the issue of inurement. It does not
go to the question of the UBIT tax.
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As we all know, we labored valiantly 4 years ago to produce a
bill on UBIT and had a draft report, but it never got enacted. I

think for the record, we ought to ask you this. Are charitable orga-

nizations now taking advantage of the UBIT rules? Are they full

complying with the UBIT rules?

Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, as I understand the history, this

has been an issue that this subcommittee has devoted significant

time and resources in the past. I am not aware of new information
on the UBIT issue. We have not had time to study that matter.

Since I have been Assistant Secretary, we have been focusing on
other issues, including this one. So I don't have anything new to

add at this moment on that particular point.

Chairman Pickle. I have the feeling, Mr. Samuels, that the or-

ganizations are not complying fully with the UBIT, but that is an-
other question. We want to make that plain.

Let me ask you one or two other questions. The National Asso-
ciation of State Charity Officials has written our subcommittee,
and they say that there is a lot of fraud and a lot of abuse in this

area and some changes should be made. They have listed, in a let-

ter to us dated January 6, about six different questions with sub-

heads under them makmg specific recommendations.
I know you may not be familiar with that letter or perhaps only

generally. I would ask that you take a look at that letter and sub-

mit to our subcommittee your response on each one of the points

made, whether you think it is applicable, should it be included in

legislation or not. Would you review those recommendations?
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, we would be pleased to review the

letter and give you our comments. I have not seen it until this

morning.
Chairman Pickle. This is the National Association of State

Charity Officials, NASCO, and it was a letter written to us, dated
January 6.

Also, Mr. Samuels, we have received a recommendation from two
State attorney generals, one from Connecticut and the other from
Texas, making some specific recommendations about how we can
improve the overall reporting requirements of, and/or excise taxes

on charitable organizations under section 501(c)(3).

You have a copy of those recommendations. We would like to

have your reaction to those specific recommendations and ask you
or Mr. Foley to make that available to our subcommittee.

In particular, can you share with some of the State officials some
information that is m form 990? How can they know also of your
investigations? It is a technical area that we may be faced with in

some instances, but I think we can cooperate with them in many
areas, and we ought to do that. So would you respond to those rec-

ommendations, also?

Mr. Samuels. Yes, we will.

[The following was subsequently received:]
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National Association ofState Charity Officials

NASCO Founded 1979

Honorable J.J. Pickle. Chairman January 6, 1994

Committee on Ways and Means

Subcommittee on Oversight

U.S. House of Representatives

1 135 Longworth House Office Building

Washington. D.C. 20515

Attn: Jefferson K. Fox, Assistant Counsel

Re: Initiatives on IRS enforcement and examination

of tax-exempt organizations

Dear Mr. Fox:

It was a pleasure meeting with you on December 15, 1993. I appreciated the opportunity

to discuss the concerns of state regulators with regard to the subcommittee's initiatives to define

and expand IRS responsibilities in the area of tax-exempt organizations. Our primary focus is

on those organizations described in section 501 (c) (3) and (4) of the Internal Revenue Code.

I wish to confirm, in writing, those concerns and offer some suggestions.

1 . There is a great deal of fraud and abuse by tax-exempt organizations but very little

examination or enforcement action bv the IRS due. in part, to a lack of IRS resources.

Although state regulators have made consiuerable strides in enacting ana emorcmg state

laws regulating charitable activities, we believe the most effective effort would result

from cooperation between the IRS and state authorities. To that end, we offer the

following suggestions:

a. Relax provisions of Section 6103 of the Internal Revenue Code to permit the sharing

of audit and examination information and records for, at least, 501 (c) (3) and (4)

organizations. Sharing would be limited to state agencies with jurisdiction over the

activities of those organizations;

b. Encourage cooperation between the IRS and state regulators by permitting immediate

and ongoing feedback when a state aeencv makes ajreferral. Current IRS practices

discourage referrals and cooperation since the IRS may not even disclose what action..if

any, they intend to take or if the referral has any merit.

c. Establish regional task forces consisting of personnel from IRS' regional exempt

organizations offices and state regulators within that region. The task forces members

could share information, training, and participate in cooperative investigations.

1Dircci NASCO inquiries lo: Dnvid Omisicdi Sccrct.irv c/o Office of Attorney General. 55 Elm Street.

Hnnlord. CT il^lCi. Ri\ #(2(l'^) 566-7722.
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2. Increase fianding and /or examination personnel allocated to exempt organizations.

3. We encourage changes in the code to provide for interim sanctions short of revocation

including the imposition of fines and penalties.

4. We encourage changes in the code to require minimum levels of direct charitable services

which must be provided by 501 (c) (3) organizations to retain their exempt status.

5. We encourage changes to require tax-exempt organizations to mail a copy of their IRS

form 990 for their last three (3) reporting periods to any person upon request andjayment of a

fee sufficient to cover copying and mailing costs. Fines and penalties should be provided for

those that fail to comply.

6. We believe that the form 990, as currently styled, is a very useful resource tool for the

public if completed accur^telv. However, it is common knowledge that the IRS does not

examine the 990 to insure compliance with 990 instructions resulting in inaccurate and

incomplete forms. Although some minor changes to the 990 may enhance its usefulness, the

most effective change would be to encourage the IRS to enforce the 990 instructions and impose

fines and penalties for deficiencies.

We would also like to alert the committee to the likely possibility that there are those who
may take advantage of your initiative to encourage legislation which would preempt or dilute

state statutes and regulatory authority. We ask^hat, in addition to standard non-preemption

language, any legislation expressly state that the intent is to enhance state and local statutes.

I appreciate any consideration your committee may give to the concerns and

recommendations offered. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you require anything further

from NASCO. Representatives of our organization would be happy to meet with you for further

discussion of these issues.

Sincerely yours,

Steven C. Arter

President, NASCO
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Chairman PiCKLE. I have a lot of other questions I want to go
into about some examples. But, I think before I go into those, I am
going to yield again to either Mr. Houghton or Mr. Rangel for any
additional questions.

Mr. Houghton, do you have any additional questions right now?
Mr. Houghton. I have two, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Samuels, in a corporation, you can get insurance to indem-

nify you, your actions at the corporation if you are a board mem-
ber, particularly an independent board member, but as I under-

stand here, that would be impossible.

Now with the potential levy of a 10-percent penalty tax on board
members, is that going to oe a problem in attracting people to

serve on those boards, many of whom will meet maybe four times

a year or something like that and not be privy to a lot of the inter-

nal moves that take place by the executive secretaries or the people

who run those organizations?
Mr. Samuels. Mr. Houghton, the proposed penalty on managers

will be imposed
Mr. Houghton. I am talking about board members now.
Mr. Samuels. Right. They are managers for purposes of this 10-

percent-up-to-$ 10,000 penalty. That penalty is only imposed if the

board member approved a transaction knowing that it results in an
excess benefit. We think that is auite a high standard that some-
one will have to have met. They nave to actually know that they

are doing something that would create an excess benefit.

So we don't think that with that standard we would discourage

people who are interested in serving on charitable boards from par-

ticipating.

Mr. Houghton. I agree. That is a good answer. Thank you very
much.
The second question is this. It seems to me, in taking a look at

your testimony, under the whole question of excess benefits, that

what the basic thrust here is applying these excess benefit taxes

to organizations, in health organizations. So you apply it to section

501(c)(4) organizations, but limit it to section 501(c)(4) health orga-

nizations. So the question, really, I have is does this proposal go

beyond health organizations in applying the tax.

Mr. Samuels. Section 501(c)(4) organizations include health

maintenance organizations for example, if they meet certain re-

quirements. Section 501(c)(4) also applies to other organizations.

Mr. Houghton. Yes, but it just seemed to me in reading this,

and maybe I misread it, that your basic thrust was to go after the

potential problems in the health care field.

Mr. Samuels. That is correct. With respect to the group of enti-

ties that qualify under section 501(c)(4), we think that the greatest

chance for abuse based on the evidence that this subcommittee has
developed are the health care entities.

Mr. Houghton. Your proposal then not only includes that, but

also goes beyond that?
Mr. Samuels. Correct.

Mr. Houghton. The reasons for that are what?
Mr. Samuels. I think we felt that we didn't want to get into trv-

in^ to define exactly what is the health care entity and that could

raise some technical questions. Then people would try to design
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their entity to possibly get out of that definition. But the fun-
damental kind of touchstone was the section 501(c)(4) exemption.
We want to try to make this proposal simple. We don't want to

make it overbroad. I understand your question, but we thought for

this particular point, the simplicity of saying if vou are 501(c)(4),

you are also covered, is the appropriate path to tate.

Mr. Houghton. Thank you.
Chairman Pickle. Mr. Rangel.
Mr. Rangel. No questions, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman PiCKLE. Mr. Samuels, we have enough trouble now

trying to pass the health bill. Will this inclusion of section 501(c)(4)

cause them any more difficulty?

Mr. Samuels. I don't believe so. In fact, I think that including
501(c)(4) organizations could facilitate dealing with health care re-

form because there is a concern about the restructuring of the
health care industry and the possibility that currently exempt or-

ganizations will become taxable. So we think that this could actu-
ally be helpful. This proposal could be helpful in satisfying those
who are concerned about this issue in the health care industry.

Chairman PiCKLE. It is a clear notification to them that they
would be included in this coverage.

I am going to give you a little time to walk through an example,
so that maybe everybody would have a clearer understanding of
when you apply these rules and how they work. Let me take an
example, and you try to respond to me, if you don't mind.

I know you have the excise tax of 25 percent and what happens
under it. So let me illustrate how it might work, and let me see
if you can respond. Take an organization that has a computer
worth at least $1,000, and that organization sold the computer to

the president's son for $500. In this particular instance, who is the
insider?

Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, before I answer that specifically,

let me just make one very general observation about the example.
Chairman PiCKLE. All right.

Mr. Samuels. Our proposal is designed to hit the egregious type
of cases, the abusive cases that this subcommittee has considered.
I just wanted to make what is probably an obvious point, but I

think it is worth making. The example of the $1,000 value and a
$500 sale of the computer is not necessarily the level of transaction
that the IRS is going to be concerned about. So I just want to make
sure that some organizations aren't concerned that all of a sudden
we are going to be looking at these very small transactions. I just
wanted to preface our comment with that statement.

In this particular case, the insider is the president of the organi-
zation, and that is the person who would be subject to the excise

tax.

Chairman PiCKLE. All right. That would be the president. What
is the amount of the excess oenefit?

Mr. Samuels. It is $500, the difference between the $1,000 fair

market value and the $500 price.

Chairman PiCKLE. All right. What would be the amount of the
initial tax imposed on the president if he was the insider?

Mr. Samuels. Mr. Chairman, the tax would be 25 percent of
$500 or $125.
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Chairman PiCKLE. What would be the amount of the tax imposed
on the organization manager?
Mr. Samuels. The manager in this particular case would be sub-

ject to a tax equal to 10 percent of the excess benefit of $500 or

$50.
Chairman PiCKLE. At one time, you were thinking about 2.5 per-

cent, but that has been changed now to 10 percent?

Mr. Samuels. Correct.

Chairman Pickle. All right. If the transaction were not cor-

rected, what is the amount of the additional tax that would be im-
posed on the president?

Mr. Samuels. The additional tax would be twice the excess bene-
fit which would be $1,000, twice $500.
Can I just make one point going back a question on the 10 per-

cent tax on the manager?
Chairman Pickle. Yes.

Mr. Samuels. To repeat again, that is only if the manager ap-

proved the transaction knowing that it results in an excess benefit.

Chairman Pickle. I see. All right.

Under your recommendations, you have a very definite definition

of who is an insider. I think a lot of people are going to be asking
about that, and I don't think I will walk through all of those kinds
of questions because I don't think it is necessary at this point.

The example I gave you is a small one, and while we are not
after, of course, the small ones, they would have to apply to every-

one. If an organization had an excess benefit of, say, $200,000, a
fourth of that would be $50,000. So we are able to reach out and
get the big boys who are really making the violations. That may
be what we are primarily after, but we have to apply it across the

board.
I think these are good examples, and I am not going to ask you

to reply on some types of examples because we understand gen-

erally how it applies. But, I would hope that you would proceed to

get your proposal drafted and submitted to our committee. We, in

turn, will be preparing to issue a report on it, and we will move
this legislation forward.
As usual, you will find more difficulties raised once you propose

it. At this point, it would seem to me that charitable organizations,

as well as legislative bodies concerned, would be in favor of this

type of a change.
We are not getting into the question of UBIT, but we are seeing

that these are some definite changes that should be made with re-

spect to inurement, and I hope that we can move on it quickly.

Let me ask if any of the other members have any broader ques-

tions or general questions.

Mr. Houghton.
[No response.]

Chairman Pickle. Mr. Rangel.
[No response.]
Chairman PiCKLE. Mr. Coyne.
We welcome you here, Mr. Coyne. You are always welcome. You

are a very valuable member of the full committee.
[No response.]
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Chairman PiCKLE. Again, I want to thank you, Mr. Samuels. I

know that you and Mr. Foley have spent a good bit of time on this.

I personally appreciate your earnestness and the sincerity in which
you have approached this matter, and I think I speak on behalf of

the subcommittee. It is a very important matter. I think it needs
to be cleared up, and the sooner, the better. So I thank you very
much for your testimony.
Mr. Samuels. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman PiCKLE. The subcommittee will stand adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 11:20 a.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
[Submissions for the record follow:]
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HECHT, SPENCER & ASSOCIATES, INC.
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April 13, 1994 Timolhy P. H^h.

Vict Pnadmt

William H.Hech.
B.onwyn Bachrach

WTimolhyLockt Carol Brow„ii,g

The Honorable J. J. Pickle

Chairman, Subcommittee on Oversight

Committee on Ways and Means
U. S. House of Representatives

Room 1102 Longworth House Office Building

Washington, D. C. 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

On behalf of our chent. Boy Scouts of America (BSA) of Irving, Texas, the

following represents written comments on the Subcommittee's March 16, 1994 hearing on

U.S. Department of Treasury Department's proposals to improve compliance by tax-

exempt organizations. These comments were prepared by Ronald E. Moranville, the BSA
Deputy Chief Scout Executive and Chief Financial Officer, who attended a portion of the

hearing.

Boy Scouts of America appreciates this opportunity to express our opinion

on the investigation into wrong doings by charitable organizations. We are

in support ofyour goal of more effectively identifying the "bad actors" in the

not-for-profit organizations. Based upon our review of the Treasury

Department's prepared statement by Mr. Leslie B. Samuels to the House

Ways & Means Oversight Sub-Committee hearing and offer the following

information in the spirit of being helpful.

Section IV. of Mr. Samuels prepared statement dealt with responsibilities

of compensation. Mr. Bennett Weiner informed the Committee that a

survey of 203 of the largest national charities found only nine that paid

their Chief Executive Officers more than $250,000. We believe a review of

many organizations will reveal that compensation will be considered

reasonable even at levels of $250,000.

However, the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (OBRA) may have

a major impact on reportable income. This Act lowered the income level for

retirement planning significantly. Corporations throughout America are

developing restoration plans. If, however, a non-profit establishes a

restoration plan, the money used to fund the restoration becomes taxable

income each year and is reported as income to the individual. This

restoration funding will distort the individual's salary.

In addition, several top leaders of family type organizations are required by

contract that spouses attend certain national functions. As the Committee

knows, OBRA'93 eliminated spousal travel as a deduction. Therefore, the

expenses of spousal travel, if re-imbursed, are also reportable income at the

time of expense.

Thes^ two factors can dramatically increase perceived compensation simply

because of the OBRA '93. We would recommend that consideration be given

to reporting this type of income on a separate report that the public will

more clearly understand.

Once again, the Boy Scouts of America organization appreciates this

opportunity to serve.
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Mr. Moranville may be reached at 1325 West Walnut Hill Lane, Irving Texas, 75015-2079,

telephone number 214/580-2000. We trust that this input will be of assistance; thank you.

Sincerely,

Id^U^
W. Timothy Locke
Vice President

Ms. Janice Mays
Chief Counsel and Staff Director

Committee on Ways and Means
U.S. House of Representatives

Room 1102 Longworth House Office Building

Washington, D.C. 20515
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AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIAXrON
Reply to:

Section of Taxation

IBM M Street, N.W.

2nd Floor, South Lobbv
Washington, DC 20036^5886

(202) 331-2230

FAX: (202) 331-2220

May 11, 1994

SfCriON DlLfCATES ro THl
HOUSt OF DUICAUS

The Honorable J.J. Pickle
Chairman of the Subcommittee on Oversight
Committee on Ways and Means
U.S. House of Representatives
1135 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Re: Comments on Compliance with the Tax Laws
By Public Charities

COUNCIL
The Ollicers,

Settron Delegates, and

Dennis 6. Orapkin

Erie R Fox

Washington. DC
David C Clickman

Colombus. GA

Washinglon. DC
Pamela F. Olson
Washington, DC
Uurence Reich

Newarit, Nl

Theodore I Rhodes
Washington, DC

Sylvan Sieglet

Dear Congressman Pickle:

I am enclosing comments on the above noted report as
prepared by members of the Committee on Exempt
Organizations. This report was reviewed by members of our
Committee on Government Submissions.

This report represents the individual views of the
members who prepared it and do not represent the position of
the American Bar Association or of the Section of Taxation.

Sinceri

iV^X^SV^

M. Carr Ferg^igon, Jr.
Chair, Section of Taxation

tM/50N fROM ABA
BOARD Of COVIRNORS

Rolland i Crete

Enclosure

LIAISON FROM ASA
voLtNC LAwyeRS division

Washington. DC
LIAISON FROM LAW
sruDFNT DIVISION

Staniord. CA

cc: Margaret M. Richardson, Commissioner, Internal Revenue
Leslie B. Samuels, Assistant Secretary Tax Policy,

Department of Treasury
James J. McGovern, Assistant Commissioner, Internal

Revenue
Marcus S. Owens, Director, Exempt Organizations

Technical Division, Internal Revenue
Maurice Foley, Deputy Tax Legislative Counsel,

Department of Treasury
Michael Schultz, Attorney Advisor, Department of

Treasury
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COMMENTS ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE TAX LAWS BY PUBLIC CHARITIES

The following comments are the individual views of the members of the Section of

Taxation who prepared them and do not represent the position of the American Bar Association

or of the Section of Taxation.

The comments were prepared by individual members of the Committee on Exempt
Organizations. Principal responsibility was exercised by Bonnie Brier, Victoria Bjorklund and

Celia Roady, with assistance from Julie Noel Gilbert and Suzanne Ross McDowell. The
comments were reviewed by Ronald D. Aucutt, of the Section's Committee on Government

Submissions.

Although many of the members of the Section of Taxation who participated in the

preparation of these comments necessarily have clients and/or are employed by organizations

affected by federal taxation, including the federal tax rules applied in the subject area addressed

by these comments, no such member (or firm of such member) has been engaged by a client or

has represented an organization with respect to the specific subject of these comments.
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I. INTRODUCTION

Public charities play an important - and increasingly vital - role in improving our
quality of life, our communities, and our world. In recent years, the Internal Revenue Service
(the "Service"), congressional committees, and the press have focused on abuses or perceived

abuses by certain public charities. It is not clear that this is indicative of an increase in improper
activities by such exempt organizations, as opposed to more widespread publicity of a relatively

small number of improprieties that have always existed. Nevertheless, at least two themes
emerge by consensus. First, the vast majority of exempt organizations are law abiding. Second,
public confidence is eroded, and law abiding charities themselves are hurt, by the small number
of abusive exempt organizations. Thus, we should do more to prevent the abuses by this

minority of exempt organizations that do not operate appropriately or, failing that, we need to

punish the abusers.

The United States tax system is premised on voluntary compliance. Because collection

of revenue is the principal issue with for-profit organizations, while standards of behavior are

the principal issues with exempt entities, the specific tools for encouraging voluntary compliance

may differ. In the case of public charities, we believe that voluntary compliance is promoted

best through the three-pronged approach of;

• GUIDANCE AND EDUCATION

• ACCOUNTABIUTY TO THOSE MOST DIRECTLY INTERESTED IN THE
ORGANIZATION AND TO THE PUBUC AT LARGE

• MEANINGFUL IRS ENFORCEMENT

Of course, the voluntary sector itself is diverse, ranging from small grass roots

organizations formed to meet basic community needs with little or no paid staff and no tax or

legal assistance to large and complex universities and health care systems with significant in-

house and outside tax and legal advisors, so that this three-pronged approach must remain

flexible to meet the needs of the various constituencies. We note that the Service has taken a

number of significant steps in recent years to promote voluntary compliance by public charities.

Before discussing each of these three prongs and our suggestions for enhancing voluntary

compliance, we take a very brief look at some of those initiatives.

n. SERVICE INITLATIVES

Only a few years ago, the Service was criticized in many quarters for meaningless audits

and its failure to understand the complex transactions in which large exempt organizations

increasingly engage. Since that time, the Service has undertaken a number of initiatives that are

to be applauded. These include, (not in any particular order):

the Special Emphasis Program in the contribution/consideration area, which began

with an education phase and then was followed by an enforcement phase;

the coordinated examination program of hospital systems;

the coordinated examination program of televangelists;

the coordinated examination program of colleges and universities;

the continuing dialogue between the Service and the Office of the Inspector

General of the Department of Health and Human Services;

the issuance of substantive audit guidelines involving hospitals, colleges and

universities, and corporate sponsorships;

public announcements regarding abusive tax-exempt financings and a new audit

program in that area;

improvements to Forms 990/1023;
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• greater outreach efforts by the Service to obtain input from exempt organizations

and their advisors, including Key District liaison meetings and the solicitation of

comments and holding of hearings in connection with the draft corporate

sponsorship and college and university audit guidelines; and

• greater visibility of Service representatives at conferences and meetings where

they alert exempt organizations and their representatives to specific issues of

concern to the Service and respond to questions.

m. GUTOANCE AND EDUCATION

The tax rules applicable to exempt organizations are complicated. In large part, we
believe this is unavoidable because community needs and the appropriate charitable responses

to such needs are diverse and change over time. In fact, we believe that the Internal Revenue

Code (the "Code"), regulations, and rulings intentionally use flexible terms such as "charitable,"

"private inurement," and "private benefit" precisely because community needs and the

appropriate charitable responses to them vary and evolve. While, on balance, it is desirable that

tax exemption for public charities be based on such flexibility, this inevitably produces

uncertainly. As a result, even the most well-meaning exempt organization can encounter

difficulty in applying the complex tax rules that pertain to it. This is particularly true for the

smaller charity lacking in specialized tax expertise, but significant uncertainties exist for virtually

all exempt organizations. The complexity is exacerbated in areas, such as health care, where

external changes have led, and continue to lead, to exempt organization involvement in

transactions not previously considered by the Service. Recognizing that complexity and change

are inherent in the statutory and regulatory scheme, there are, nonetheless, a variety of measures

that can be undertaken by the Service. These include:

A. Need for Published Advice on Which Taxpayers Can Reply. There has been

very little published advice on which taxpayers can rely (e. g. . regulations, revenue rulings) in

more than a decade. There are numerous key issues as to which there is no advice or conflicting

advice, such as how much unrelated income is "insubstantial" for purposes of maintaining

exemption or how allocations are to be made in the case of assets used for both exempt and

taxable purposes. In other areas there are dozens, sometimes hundreds, of private rulings

involving an issue as to which the Service and Treasury have issued no precedential advice, such

as hospital reorganizations and joint ventures. In areas where there is no precedential advice,

but a significant body of non-precedential advice, some organizations will request the certainty

of private letter rulings, which may result in a substantial and needless cost to those

organizations and the Service. Other organizations, however, will find sufficient comfort in the

non-precedencial advice. This, too, can be problematic. First, the taxpayer is at risk because

it cannot rely on the non-precedential advice in the event of a later controversy with the Service.

Second, it is not uncommon for non-precedential advice to be of questionable result or, even if

the result is correct, for the analysis to be questionable.

Particulariy in light of the complexity of the law and its evolving nature, it is

critical that the Service seek to guide exempt organizations by providing more precedential

advice on critical issues of law so that organizations can determine the consequences of various

actions. Regulations and revenue rulings normally best serve this purpose. As there apparently

is some obstacle to their issuance, one alternative method for increasing precedential advice

would be to expand IRC §6110(j)(3) to require the Secretary to create a procedure whereby

certain reviewed private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda, general counsel memoranda,

and other internal documents would be considered precedential.

B. Need for User-Friendly Publications. Recognizing the complexity of the law

and the fact that many exempt organizations lack specialized tax expertise, it is particularly

important that user-friendly publications be available. For example, it appears that a number

of public charities may on occasion inadvertently violate the prohibition on electioneering out

of ignorance and we believe a user-friendly publication explaining the rules applicable to

electioneering, lobbying, PACs, and IRC §527 could serve to educate charities and avoid much

of this unintended noncompliance. While user-friendly publications aimed at organizations

without substantial resources are the higher priority, publications developed for specific

industries within the exempt organizations community, such as health care organizations,

educational institutions, museums, and trade associations, also would be useful.
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C. Dissemination of Information. Exempt organizations need to know the

information that is available and how to access it. We propose that the Service send annually

to exempt organizations, with their tax returns, (1) a short update on current important issues

and (2) a list of significant available precedential and non-precedential materials produced by the

Service or Treasury that would be of interest to exempt organizations, with information on how
to obtain the materials. The list of available resources should include an index of significant

rulings, procedures, announcements, and notices pertinent to exempt organizations, as well as

lesser known public information, such as the annual Continuing Professional Education Technical

Instruction Program text, noting as appropriate that such information is not precedential. We
also recommend that where a significant ruling or procedure is amended by a later ruling or

procedure, there be more consideration to issuing a new consolidated ruling or procedure (with

the consolidated ruling or procedure explaining the basis for any change in position and any

retroactive application). Finally, we strongly encourage Service representatives to continue

speaking at conferences and meetings where they can provide informal advice to exempt

organizations and their advisor^.

rV. ACCOUNTABILITY

One of the characteristics that often distinguishes public charities from private foundations

and for-profit entities is the greater accountability of public charities, both to governing boards

that are representative of the community and to the public the charity serves. We believe that

abuses are much less likely to occur where the organization's board and the public are

knowledgeable about the organization's affairs. To this end, we recommend the following:

A. Improving Forms 990/1023. The Form 990 is intended to serve a number of

purposes, including data collection and enforcement by the Service, data collection and

enforcement by the states, and the dissemination of information to the public. While greatly

improved in the last decade, the Form 990 fails to serve well its intended purposes. The Form

is not user friendly; it remains replete with ambiguities; it is a poor source for the gathering of

meaningful data; and it should be a much better source for fostering accountability by the

governing board and the public. We propose that the Service hire an outside consulting firm to

review the purposes of the Form 990, bring the various audiences for it, as well as experts

within and outside of the Service, together to discuss the purposes of the Form and its strengths

and weaknesses, and then take a fresh look at the construction of the Form 990 and its

instnictions and make recommendations to the Service as to the construction of the Form 990

and its instructions. In connection with this analysis, we recommend that the consultant work

closely with the states with a view to minimizing duplicative reporting while providing

appropriate information. We also recommend that the consultant review SEC disclosure rules,

including those pertinent to public offerings, to determine whether some of the disclosures

required in that arena might appropriately be required in the Form 990 and that more

consideration be given to increased disclosure concerning related party transactions, affiliated

entities, and relationships betw£en and among board members and others involved with the

organization. We believe a similar review of the Form 990-T, Form 1023, and Form 1024 also

would be useful, although not as imperative.

B. Require Filing and Disclosure of Returns of Affiliates. In order for the Service

and public to properly gauge the affairs of public charities, we propose that the "parent"

organization of affiliated entities -- which we would defme as an entity controlling, directly or

indirectly, more than fifty percent through ownership of any class of stock, board overlap, or

ability to select board members -- be required to attach copies of the returns of all affiliates to

its return, both for filing purposes and for public disclosure purposes under IRS §6104(e).'

We propose that this requirement also apply to returns of for-profit affiliates that meet the above

definition if there are any direct or indirect transactions between an exempt member of the group

and the for-profit member (other than an exempt organization capitalizing the for-profit entity

or the for-profit entity simply making charitable contributions to one or more exempt members).

However, consistent with current law, the for-profit returns would not be made available to the

public under IRC §6104(e).

' The attachment of affiliate returns to the parent's return would not be considered a

consolidated return under IRC §1502.
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C. Greater Availability of Forms 990/1023. We support the provisions of H.R. 1

1

as passed by Congress in 1992 but vetoed by President Bush, which would have amended IRC
§61 04(e) to require each exempt organization to provide copies of its three most recent Forms
990 and its application for exemption and related documents without charge other than a

reasonable fee for copying. We suggest, however, that these forms be available by mail upon
payment of a reasonable copying and mailing fee; and that there be some limit on the number
of requests to which an exempt organization must respond in any month in order to protect

organizations from harassment and from too burdensome an obligation. In addition,

consideration should be given to exempting from disclosure, unless specifically requested, certain

portions of the Form 990 that are unlikely to be of interest to the requester and could be
expensive and time consuming to copy, such as the list of the organization's stock and bond
holdings if over a few pages in length.

We also believe that the Service needs to be more responsive to requests for

Forms 990/1023. To this end, we recommend that all Forms 990 be filed in one Service Center

and, as discussed below at V.A., that all Forms 1023 be filed with the National Office or in

a single Service Center. In addition to making such forms more readily available to the public,

filing in one central location would facilitate information gathering by the Service, including

providing its Statistics of Information Division with a single reliable source for obtaining

information. In order to maximize further the availability of these forms, we also suggest that

tapes of the forms be made available to regional centers, such as the Foundation Center, and that

these centers be permitted to charge a modest user fee for providing access to the data. Finally,

in order to promote governing board accountability, we also propwse that each public charity be

required to provide each of its governing board members with a full and complete copy of the

Form 990 each year within ninety days of filing it.

D. Public Disclosure of Tax Penalties, Excise Taxes, Closing Agreements, and
Other Adverse Actions by the Service. In order for the public to properly gauge the affairs

of public charities, we propose that IRC §6103 be modified to provide for public disclosure of

tax penalties assessed against exempt organizations, including excise taxes, as well as

infonnation pertinent to revocation and closing agreements. We also propose that an exempt

organization be required to disclose such infonnation in its Form 990.

E. Presumption of Reasonableness. We believe that education and accountability

are the principal components of a system based on voluntary compliance. In a number of

situations -- such as the setting of compensation levels for executives and transactions between

public charities and insiders - the public interest is best served by encouraging a thoughtful and

knowledgeable decision-making process by independent persons who carefully consider the

appropriate legal standards, as well as the relevant data. Accordingly, we propose that Congress

direct Treasury to promulgate regulations under IRC §501 (c)(3) which would establish

procedures for reviewing compensation and transactions with insiders, and would create a

rebuttable presumption of reasoiiableness where such procedures are followed. In cases where

the presumption of reasonableness applies, the Secretary would have the burden of proving the

unreasonableness by clear and convincing evidence. The presumption of reasonableness should

apply in cases where an exempt organization can demonstrate that:

(i) the determination was made by a committee of the board of directors

composed entirely of individuals unrelated to and not subject to the control

of the persons involved in the transaction;

(ii) the committee applied the appropriate legal standard in making its

determination;

(iii) the committee obtained and relied upon appropriate data as to

comparability (e. g .. in the case of compensation determinations, the

committee obtained and relied upon comf)ensation levels paid by similarly

situated organizations, both taxable and tax-exempt, for functionally

comparable fHJsitions);

(iv) such committee adequately documented the basis for its determination

(e.g . , in the case of compensation determinations, this would include an

evaluation of the specific persons whose compensation was being set and
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the basis for finding their new compensation to be reasonable in light of
that evaluation and the data); and

(v) the determination is properly reported (e^. , in the case of compensation,
the amounts are properly reported on the employee's Form W-2 or Form
1099, as appropriate, and on the organization's Form 990, or other

document distributed to the public if no Form 990 is required).

F. Extension of Filing Requirements to Churches. While we appreciate the special

role that churches play in this country and the special protection they receive under the First

Amendment, it is unclear whether or not the relationship between churches and members of their

congregations serves as an adequate and effective substitute for the public accountability required
of other classes of public charities. We believe that thoughtful consideration should be given
to requiring churches to file at least an abbreviated Form 990 or registration statement which
would be available to the public. We also question whether integrated auxiliaries of churches
should receive the same filing exemption as churches. Churches with limited gross receipts

should be exempt from, or subject to simplified, filing procedures on a similar basis as other

exempt organizations with limited gross receipts.

V. MEANINGFUL IRS ENFORCEMENT

While education and accountability are the primary tools for assuring voluntary

compliance, some meaningful enforcement by the Service is important to deter the small number
of organizations that might not otherwise comply and to signal to the public and law-abiding

organizations that improper behavior is punished, while proper behavior avoids such fate.

A. Need for a Strong National Office in the EO Area. We believe that the

administration of the tax laws applicable to exempt organizations must be consistent and even

handed. In our view this requires a strong National Office in the exempt organizations area to

set priorities, to create uniform interpretations of the law, and to oversee field personnel working

in the area. We see significant disparities among Key Districts in their interpretations and

enforcement of the law, significant differences in the time for processing determinations, and

insufficient direct accountability by field personnel to the National Office, making it difficult for

the National Office to bring about the desired consistent and even-handed administration and

achievement of national objectives.

To address these problems, we recommend consolidating at least the determination

function either in the National Office or in a single Service Center under National Office training

and supervision. In order to more efficiently make determinations, select organizations for

examination, assist with audits, and compile data, we propose that the Service computerize the

application process to distinguish routine applications from those requiring more sophisticated

review. Giving more attention to the determination process also should alleviate some
enforcement problems by screening out nonqualifying organizations. We also recommend that

the Assistant Commissioner for Employee Plans and Exempt Organizations be given greater

direct authority over Key District and other field employees, including appeals personnel,

engaged in exempt organization activities.

In recent years, the Exempt Organizations Technical Division has been given

authority over certain new areas impacting exempt organizations, including employment taxes

and tax-exempt financings. It seems that the rationale for these changes was that those persons

familiar with the operations, and already involved in the oversight, of exempt organizations

could more efficiently and expertly assume responsibility for other substantive areas involving

exempt organizations. We agree with this and suggest that serious consideration be given to

extending the authority of the Exempt Organizations Technical Division to other areas that

substantially impact exempt organizations, particularly charitable giving, charitable trusts, and

other charitable vehicles (and transferring the resources allocated to these areas to the Exempt
Organizations Technical Division). We also note that there has been significant concern focused

on instances of abuses in charitable solicitations by exempt organizations and suggest that the

Service be given resources to work with the states in seeking a national solution to the detection

and elimination of fraudulent and inappropriate fundraising practices.

Consideration also should be given to the appointment of a separate Exempt
Organizations Counsel in the Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Treasury for Tax Policy.
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The appointment of a separate Benefits Counsel in the Office of the Assistant Secretary of the

Treasury for Tax Policy has given benefits matters greater visibility and a higher priority and

has resulted in more knowledgeable and thoughtful consideration of matters affecting benefits

and employee plans. We believe that the exempt organizations area is similarly unique and

important and the creation of a parallel position at Treasury for exempt organizations would
greatly facilitate the consideration and promulgation of precedential advice and the formulation

of appropriate tax policy in this sector and also would provide an appropriate liaison with

congressional committees considering legislation involving this sector.

Finally, we suggest that a study be undertaken to determine whether a new and

separate investigative agency should be created within Treasury to handle all exempt

organizations matters. The principal rationale for considering such a restructuring is that the

mission of the Internal Revenue Service is the collection of taxes in the most cost effective and

efficient manner possible, subject to the protection of taxpayer rights. In the exempt

organizations area, the most significant concerns involve the organization and operation of these

entities, and tax collection plays a secondary role. Thus, administration and enforcement of

exempt organization provisions may be more effective outside of an agency that does not have

a common mission.

B. Greater Communication Between the Service and Other Governmental

Agencies. Exempt organizations are regulated by a number of governmental agencies in

addition to the Service. In some cases, information identified by one agency may suggest non-

compliance with the laws enforced by another agency. In order to more efficiently promote

compliance, we believe that greater coordination between the Service and other governmental

agencies should be encouraged. We commend the Service for its efforts in opening dialogues

with various agencies in other departments, including the Office of the Inspector General of the

Department of Health and Human Services (with respect to fraud and abuse, patient dumping,

and other health care policies), the Federal Elections Commission (with respect to electioneering

laws), and the Securities and Exchange Commission (with respect to tax-exempt financing). We
believe it is important for the Service to understand the interplay between tax provisions and

other laws impacting exempt organizations when it is considering qualification for exemption,

taxability of income, and other issues, and we encourage the Service to continue to seek

infomiaiion from these and other agencies when useful in the administration of the tax laws.

We similarly believe these other agencies benefit from an understanding of the tax

laws. Most other agencies are not subject to strict confidentiality rules and, therefore, can share

infomiaiion about specific exempt organizations with the Service. However, IRC §6103

generally prevents the Service from sharing information about specific exempt organizations with

these other agencies. We believe that allowing the Service to share infonnation obtained in its

administration of the tax laws with other agencies may be an efficient and cost effective way to

foster compliance with the laws these other agencies enforce. Because, as previously discussed,

the Service's role in connection, with exempt organizations materially differs from its role with

other taxpayers, the rationale for the strict confidentiality rules contained in IRC §6103 may not

apply in the exempt organizations area. We therefore propose that Treasury be asked for a

recommendation as to whether the confidentiality provisions in IRC §6103 should be liberalized

to permit the Service to share certain types of information about specific exempt organizations

obtained in the administration of the tax laws with other governmental agencies and departments.

This could include, for example, the Office of the Inspector General of the Department of Health

and Human Services, the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice, the Securities and

Exchange Commission, the Resolution Trust Corporation, the Department of Housing and Urban

Development, and other agencies and departments where there are shared issues.

C. Intermediate Sanctions. Under current law, when a public charity violates the

inurement or private benefit proscriptions, engages in any electioneering, or engages in more

than insubstantial lobbying and has not made the lobbying election under IRC §501 (h), the

penalty is revocation of exemption.^ The magnitude of the penalty makes the Service hesitant

^ There also are three statutory provisions that provide economic penalties for specified

substantive activities of public charities. IRC §491 1 (excess lobbying expenses) was enacted as

part of a comprehensive statutory scheme that most public charities are eligible to elect if they

wish to have the substantiality of their lobbying expenses judged by specified objective criteria.

IRC §4912 (disqualifying lobbying expenses) and IRC §4955 (political expenditures) were

enacted in 1987 as a response to specific abuses involving charities engaged in lobbying and
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to invoke it. Oftentimes, revocation would serve only to deprive the public of the benefits being
provided by an innocent charity that was itself a victim. Because of abuses or perceived abuses
reported in the press and discussed at Oversight Subcommittee hearings, there has been
significant attention given to the need for and desirability of enacting an intermediate sanction.

Specific legislative proposals have been proffered by Treasury, by Representative Stark, and by
Independent Sector.

The threshold question is whether there is a need for an intermediate sanction.

There has been no long-term study of abuses by public charities to support the need for such a
sanction. In addition, in recent years, the Service increasingly has utilized closing agreements
as a means of imposing what is in practical effect an intermediate penalty. Because the

circumstances surrounding the use of closing agreements are subject to the confidentiality

provisions of IRC §6103, the public is rarely made aware of this process. Accordingly, it is

difficult to evaluate the extent to which the closing agreement process alleviates the need for a

formal intermediate sanction or the extent to which it could do so if closing agreements were
made more public. In addition, we believe that the recent experience of the Employee Plans

Division of the Service with intermediate sanctions may be instructive. In this regard, a series

of procedures have been developed to deal with various infractions of the Code. For instance,

rules have been developed for de minimis infractions under the Administrative Policy Regarding

Sanctions (see section 660 of the Internal Revenue Manual 7(10)(54); for operational defects,

which are not discovered on audit, under the Voluntary Compliance Resolution program (see

Rev. Proc. 92-89); and for a variety of other infractions under the Closing Agreement Program

(see Internal Revenue Manual 9(13)10).

The remainder of this discussion assumes that there is a need for an intermediate

sanction in order to enhance the Service's ability to ensure that public charities comply with the

requirements for tax exemption. Because Treasury and Independent Sector have, in connection

with iheir proposals, extensively discussed the background to intermediate sanctions, we do not

do so here.

In discussing a model for an intermediate sanction, the key issues are: (1) what

is the principal purpose of the sanction, (2) what activities should be subject to sanction, (3) on

whom should the sanction be imposed, (4) how should the sanction be calculated, and (5) under

what circumstances should the sanction be abated.

1. Principal Purpose. We believe the principal purpose of a sanction in a

system premised on voluntary compliance is deterrence. Thus, the existence of a sanction

should cause public charities, their boards, insiders, and others in special positions to take more

responsibility for assuring that such organizations comply with the legal requirements for

exemption. We believe a secondary purpose of a sanction is to bring about correction of specific

violations when reasonable.

2. Activities Subject to Sanction. At the outset, we note that Representative

Stark's proposal would extend something akin to the IRC §4941 self-dealing excise tax to public

charities, although this approach was rejected in both the Treasury and Independent Sector

proposals. We have carefully reviewed Representative Stark's proposal, the IRC §4941 private

foundation excise tax on self dealing, and the relevant portions of the IRC §4945 private

foundation excise tax on taxable expenditures. Our view is that prophylactic rules of this type

are not an appropriate model for public charities. The private foundation excise tax rules do not

distinguish between activities that would serve the public and those that are not in the public

interest. Because private foundations tend to be more passive grant-making type organizations.

electioneering. IRC §4912 provides a penalty in addition to revocation applicable to certain

public charities whose exemptions are revoked due to engaging in more than insubstantial

lobbying. IRC §4955 primarily provides a penalty in addition to revocation applicable to

501(c)(3) organizations whose exemptions are revoked due to electioneering. However, it also

provides an intermediate penalty of limited scope applicable only "where the expenditure was

unintentional and involved only a small amount and where the organization subsequently had

adopted procedures to assure that similar expenditures would not be made in the future". See

Judith E. Kindell and John F. Reilly, Election Year Issues, 1992 Exempt Organizations

Continuing Professional Education Instruction Program 417-19 (quoting legislative history). Our

proposal would limit IRC §4955 to its principal purpose, providing a penalty in addition to

revocation, and would provide a new and broader intermediate sanction for electioneering.
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such rules do not constrain their charitable operations as they would the charitable operations
of active public charities.' Not only do we believe that the wholesale extension of the private

foundation excise taxes to public charities would have the unfortunate effect of inhibiting public
charities from efficiently accomplishing their important missions, but we also believe that the
greater accountability of public charities makes prophylactic rules unnecessary. Finally, we
believe the private foundation rules, by superimposing an additional set of restrictions and
definitions, add unnecessary complexity to an already complex system.

In addition to the private foundation self-dealing rules, the provisions of
the Internal Revenue Code relating to qualified employee benefit plans (generally IRC §401 et

seg.) contain a separate system of sanctions which moderate the ultimate sanction in this area -

- plan disqualification. IRC §4975 imposes a penalty excise tax on transactions between
fiduciaries of the plans and certain "disqualified persons," Ls^, persons who have a relationship

to the plan which could result in transactions favoring the disqualified person and injuring the

plan. The transactions covered are sales, loans, transfers of plan assets, and the use of plan

assets by disqualified persons; the sanctions generally apply regardless of the amount of

consideration paid or received by the plan in the transaction. In certain circumstances, statutory

exemptions are available to ameliorate these flat prohibitions, as well as an individual exemption

procedure which is administered through the Department of Labor in conjunction with related

provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). In addition to

the qualified plan prohibited transaction rules, there are a number of other targeted sanctions

which apply when qualified plans fail to comply with Code operational requirements. For

example, IRC §72(t) imposes a 10% penalty tax on "early distributions" from qualified plans.

See also IRC §4974 (penalty tax on failure to make required distributions), and IRC §4980A

(penalty tax on excessive benefits from qualified plans).

In many ways, the qualified plan regime is more rigorous than the private

foundation rules and, again, we do not believe that it is the appropriate overall model for a

system of intermediate sanctions for public charities. However, there may be aspects of the

qualified plan rules which are useful in analyzing a proposed intermediate sanction system for

public charities.

In our view, any intermediate sanction applicable to public charities should

target those activities that are prohibited under present law. Those who assert the need for an

intemiediale sanction generally f>oint to the difficulty of imposing the one statutory sanction

available - revocation - because of its magnitude. In essence, they argue for the need for a

lesser penalty that can more readily be imposed.' We agree that the focus of any intermediate

sanction should be to provide a penalty that can be imposed in situations where revocation is too

harsh. Accordingly, we propose an intermediate sanction applicable to those activities that may

result in revocation of exemption: violations of the prohibition against private inurement, the

prohibition against more than insubstantial private benefit, the prohibition against electioneering,

' We note in this regard that Independent Sector provided three not uncommon examples

of transactions that further the public interest but which would violate the private foundation self-

dealing rules: a building contractor on the local YMCA board offering to renovate the Y's child

care center at a substantial discount; board members of a local arts group providing below

market loans to enable the group to weather a fmancial crisis; and a car dealer on the board of

a senior citizen center offering the group a new van at dealer cost for its meals on wheels

program.

* For example, Internal Revenue Service Commissioner Margaret Milner Richardson stated

at a June 15, 1993 hearing before the Oversight Subcommittee of the House Ways and Means

Committee that: "The lack of a sanction short of revocation in cases in which an organization

violates the inurement standard or one of the other standards for exemption causes the Service

significant enforcement difficulties. Revocation of an exemption is a severe sanction that may

be greatly disproportional to the violation in issue." Similarly, Leslie B. Samuels, Assistant

Secretary for Tax Policy, Department of the Treasury, focused on the need for a sanction that

was less severe and disproportional to the violation than revocation in his March 16, 1994,

testimony before the Oversight Subcommittee.
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and the prohibition against more than insubstantial lobbying in the absence of the lobbying
election under IRC §501 (h).'

There are several reasons for this approach. First, an intermediate
sanction thai is not coextensive with the standards for revocation will fail to provide a lesser

penalty in at least some situations where one may be appropriate and desirable. This is a
potential problem with the intermediate sanction proposals that have been offered by
Representative Stark, Treasury, and Independent Sector. For example, under Representative
Stark's proposal, there would be no statutory lesser sanction for jeopardizing exemption outside
of the inurement context (although certain other self-dealing transactions are penalized).

Similarly, under the Treasury and Independent Sector proposa..^, there would be no statutory

lesser sanction for jeopardizing exemption outside of the unreasonable compensation and non-fair

market value transaction areas. On the other hand, under the Independent Sector proposal, no
intermediate sanction would be available where the charily engaged in a pattern of paying
consideration to insiders of fifteen percent above fair market value. In such cases, the Service

would be relegated to its current status of asserting revocation, attempting to obtain a closing

agreement, or not penalizing the violation, although an intermediate sanction may be the more
appropriate option.

Second, we see no basis for distinguishing violations of the prohibition

against private inurement, including unreasonable compensation, from violations of other

qualification criteria, including the prohibition against electioneering. Due to the confidentiality

provisions in the law, it is impossible for us to know the extent to which the Service has more

than anecdotal evidence to support the need for an intermediate sanction; but we note that there

likely has been as much anecdotal evidence of potential violations of the prohibition on

electioneering as anecdotal evidence of potentially unreasonable compensation.

Finally, we believe that the existence of a congressionally-mandated

intermediate sanction will encourage the Service to issue more advice about difficult issues that

arise in areas such as inurement, private benefit, electioneering, and lobbying. Such guidance

would promote compliance with existing law by public charities.

3. On Whom Imposed. Oneof the most difficult issues is deciding on whom
the intermediate sanction should be asserted. IRC §4941 (self-dealing) imposes an excise tax

on the self-dealer and, with sufficient scienter, on the foundation manager, but never on the

private foundation itself IRC §4945 (taxable expenditures) imposes excise taxes on the private

foundation and, with sufficient scienter, on the foundation manager.'' Both the Treasury and

Independent Sector proposals employ the IRC §4941 model. Treasury would broaden the class

of insiders subject to sanction while Independent Sector would penalize a beneficiary who is not

a disqualified person if there is sufficient scienter. Representative Stark's proposal employs the

IRC §4941 model for self-dealing, but it taxes the charity, the manager if there is sufficient

scienter, and the beneficiary io the case of inurement.

There are those who contend that the charity is the victim and should never

be penalized. They note that any penalty on a charity simply deprives the public of the

charitable benevolence ta which it is entitled. Adherents to this view who nevertheless favor

an intermediate sanction suggest that the penalty be imposed on the wrong-doing individuals,

resulting in a deterrent on those involved without diminishing the resources available for the

public good. There also are those who contend that any penalty should not be imposed on

^ We note that Independent Sector has argued against a penalty based on violations of the

inurement and private benefit prohibitions on the ground that those standards are poorly defined.

While we agree that there are a number of situations in which the application of the inurement

and private benefit standards is unclear, we also believe that over the decades a solid body of

case law and agency interpretations have developed which provide substantial guidance in most

situations.

' IRC §4911 (excess lobbying expenses) and §4912 (disqualifying lobbying expenses)

similarly target the charity, and IRC §4912 also imposes an excise tax on the manager if there

is sufficient scienter. IRC §4942 (failure to distribute income) and IRC §4943 (excess business

holdings) are imposed solely on the private foundation. IRC §4944 (investments which

jeopardize charitable purpose) and IRC §4955 (political expenditures) are imposed on the charity

and, with sufficient scienter, on the manager.



53

individuals who have not knowingly and willfully participated in the violation. They note that

the consequences of penalizing such individuals include discouraging qualified persons from
becoming involved with charities and others from doing business with charities. They also point

to the unfairness of asking volunteer board members to pay penalties or asking innocent
employees and others to return a portion of their compensation or transaction proceeds.

We believe there is merit to both positions and no way to have an effective

sanction that wholly reconciles these conflicting interests. In attempting to balance all of the

various considerations, we propose an economic penalty that can be asserted against the charity,

but that can be abated readily by the Service in appropriate cases, as discussed more fully below
at 5., and that provides for institutional correction. We also propose an economic penalty that

can be asserted against insiders and other individuals where there is sufficient scienter, and that

provides for flnancial correction by those parties.

In proposing this scope of coverage, we focused on the desirability of

encouraging accountability by the governing boards and managers of public charities, the

benefits of a sanction that could serve to deter inappropriate conduct, the desirability of

subjecting the charity and individuals involved in the violation to a correction process, the

enhanced public accountability, and the purpose of the intermediate sanction as a lesser penalty

than revocation. To these ends, the absence of any penalty on the charity itself creates the

anomaly that the charity can lose its exemption, but not otherwise be penalized, and does not

encourage accountability by the governing board. It also makes more problematic the

requirement of institutional correction and the public disclosure of the sanction. The absence

of a sanction applicable to individuals who benefitted or who made the decisions removes a

potentially important deterrent, does not encourage accountability, and makes appropriate

financial correction problematic.

Safeguards for individuals under our proposal include the facts that

individuals are subject to sanction only if there is an issue rising to the level of a violation of

the inurement, private benefit, electioneering, or substantial lobbying prohibitions; the

presumption of reasonableness, discussed above at IV. E.; the requirement that the Service show

a high level of scienter for the imposition of an excise tax or the requirement of correction in

the case of individuals other than insiders who have benefitted personally; the ability of the

Service to abate the excise taxes; and the requirement that the Service determine correction is

reasonable before imposing it.

4. Calculating the Sanction. The more common type of sanctions outside

of the exempt organizations area are monetary penalties imposed for specific violations of

substantive and procedural law. In the exempt organizations area there are monetary penalties

for specific violations of procedural law, but the only penalties for violations of substantive law

are revocation, certain excise taxes in the case of private foundations;' and three other excise

taxes involving lobbying and political activities.' We believe that either a traditional monetary

penalty scheme or a sanction that operates procedurally like the private foundation excise taxes

can serve the intended purposes of an intermediate sanction on public charities. Because the

private foundation excise tax provisions have been in effect for twenty-five years, we have

chosen to model our proposal on them.

We believe that in calculating the amount of the sanction (i) the penalty

should be a jjercentage of the amount of the prohibited conduct (referred to hereafter as the

"taxable amount") and (ii) there should be a two-tiered sanction, with the second tier imposed

only if the prohibited conduct is not corrected as appropriate. Thus, if a public charity paid an

insider $100x for services, but the fair market value of the services was $30x, the taxable

amount would be $70x. We recognize that a sanction based on the amount of the prohibited

conduct may not be commensurate with the violation, particularly in the case of electioneering

' As a technical matter, excise taxes are not monetary penalties. Rather, they constitute

taxes imposed as a result of engaging in certain transactions or activities. While such a

distinction may be valid in the context of the IRC §4940 tax on investment income, it makes

little sense when applied to the IRC §4941 tax on self-dealing or the IRC §4945 tax on engaging

in certain prohibited activities. Thus, for purposes of this discussion, we treat excise taxes as

penalties.

' Sefe note 2, supra .
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or lobbying. Nevertheless, we believe that, in most cases, it will be an appropriate measure.
Where the sanction is insufficient, revocation remains an alternative; where the excise tax is too
high, the Secretary can abate some or all of the tax.

The purpose of a correction period is to provide the public with the full

charitable benevolence that was intended and to minimize the likelihood of future violations by
the same charity. Where reasonable, correction encompasses financial correction by applicable
parties who benefitted from the violation, which generally requires reversal of the transactions

or other action sufficient to place the public charity in a financial position no worse than it would
have been in had the violation not taken place; and institutional correction by the charity, which
generally includes the implementation of policies and procedures that provide a reasonable
assurance against future violations. This may include, for example, the establishment of
independent board committees to review insider transactions and executive compensation, the

adoption of policies prohibiting electioneering and circumscribing the amount of lobbying, or

other appropriate actions. In extreme cases, it may include the permanent disassociation of

certain persons with the organization.

5. Abatement. The first-tier private foundation excise taxes, other than

IRC §4941, can be abated. Generally this requires a showing that the violation was "due to

reasonable cause and not to willful neglect," although the standard for abatement under

IRC §4955 is "not willful and fiagrant." IRC §4962. Abatement of the second-tier tax requires

correction. IRC §4961. We believe more fiexibility is required. Under our proposal, one or

both tiers of the excise tax can be abated in the Secretary's discretion, in whole or part;

however, correction would still be required as appropriate, the assessment and abatement of the

excise lax and correction would constitute public information, and the public charity would be

required to report the assessment and abatement of the excise tax and the correction on its Form
990.

We suggest that the legislative history to the intermediate sanction reflect

Congress' expectation that the Service generally will abate the excise tax (a) on all parties where

the tax would otherwise be imposed in a new and previously unclear context without prior

warning, (b) on all parties where there has been self correction prior to audit or the imposition

of any penalty, (c) as appropriate where state attorneys general or other state or local authorities

have taken sufficient remedial action, and (d) on the public charity in those cases where the

public is best served if the charity itself is not punished. We believe that a party on whom an

excise tax is assessed should be permitted to challenge a determination of the Secretary that an

activity constitutes prohibited inurement, private benefit, electioneering, or lobbying in court in

a manner consistent with challenges to the imposition of the private foundation excise taxes.

6. Proposal. We propose a single excise tax provision that would provide

for an initial tax to be assessed for violations of the inurement, private benefit, substantial

lobbying, and electioneering prohibitions against:

(a) any beneficiary of the violation (who is not a disqualified person)

who knowingly, willfully, and without reasonable cause benefits

from the violation, in an amount equal to 5 percent of the taxable

amount for each year or partial year in the taxable period;

(b) any disqualified person who benefits from the violation, in an

amount equal to 10 percent of the taxable amount for each year or

partial year in the taxable period;

(c) any organization manager who knowingly, willfully, and without

reasonable cause participates in the violation, in an amount equal

to 5 percent of the taxable amount for each year or partial year in

the taxable period, up to a maximum of $10,000 per organization

manager for any one violation; and

(d) the public charity, in an amount equal to 10 percent of the taxable

amount for each year or partial year in the taxable period.
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If the basis for the penalty involved one or more transactions as to which
the presumption of reasonableness discussed in IV.E. above applied, the Service would have the

burden of overcoming the presumption by clear and convincing evidence of unreasonableness

before the penalty could be assessed in connection with such transaction(s). The Service also

would have the burden of proof as to whether a beneficiary who is not a disqualified person

acted knowingly, willfully, and without reasonable cause. Excise taxes imposed on beneficiaries

and organization managers would be required to be paid by those persons, without

indemnification or insurance coverage, and amounts paid would not be deductible for federal tax

purposes.

Under our prop>osal, a correction period similar to that applicable to the

private foundation excise taxes would apply once the first-tier excise tax was assessed.

Correction of the violation would encompass

(a) financial correction by the party who benefitted from the violation,

i.e. . reversal of the transaction or otherwise placing the public

charity in a financial position that is not worse than it would have

been in had the violation not been undertaken, provided the

Secretary determines that such financial correction is reasonable

under the circumstances of the case, and

(b) institutional correction by the charity, including the adoption and

implementation of policies and procedures that provide a

reasonable assurance against future violations.

If appropriate financial or institutional correction (as the case may be) is

not completed within the correction period, a second-tier excise tax would be assessed against:

(a) any beneficiary of the violation (who is not a disqualified person)

who is subject to a first-tier excise tax and refuses to agree to part

or all of the correction, in an amount equal to 100 percent of the

taxable amount;

(b) any disqualified person who is subject to a first-tier excise tax and

refuses to agree to part or all of the correction, in an amount equal

to 200 percent of the taxable amount;

(c) any organization manager who is subject to a first-tier excise tax

and refuses to agree to part or all of the correction, in an amount

equal to 1(X) percent of the amount involved with respect to the

violation; and

(d) the organization, in an amount equal to 200 percent of the amount

involved with respect to the violation.

Abatement of all excise taxes would be available as discussed above at S.

The excise tax would be an alternative to revocation that is appropriate where the Service

determines that revocation is too harsh a penalty. This differs from the Treasury proposal which

apparently also would apply to an organization whose exemption was revoked. The anecdotal

evidence of abuses presented at the Oversight Subcommittee hearings has not included situations

in which revocation was deemed an insufficient penalty. Penalties beyond revocation

traditionally have been the province of state attorneys general and other state and local

authorities. In the absence of a study focused on the issue of revocation as an insufficient

penalty and greater coordination with the states, we believe it is premature to propose a penalty

in addition to revocation.
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April 25, 1994

Advancing Philanthropy through
Education, Training and Advocacy

Ms. Janice Mays, Esq.

Chief Counsel and Staff Director

Committee on Ways and Means
U.S. House of Representatives

Room 1102

Longworth House Office Building

Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Ms. Mays:

On behalf of the National Society of Fundraising Executives ("NSFRE")\ I am
presenting comments on the proposals of the Treasury Department to improve

compliance with the tax laws by tax-exempt organizations which were presented to the

Subcommittee on Oversight at a hearing held on March 16, 1994.

The NSFRE applauds the Subcommittee on Oversight for focusing attention on the

important issue of financial disclosure and accountability of not-for-profit organizations.

We believe that the vast majority of tax-exempt organizations recognize the public trust

that has been placed in them, and do their best to comply with the all of the federal,

state, and local laws that regulate their operations. At the same time, we recognize that

there are a small minority of organizations in which an individual associated with the

organization takes advantage of its tax-exempt status. We believe that the Internal

Revenue Service (IRS) must have the tools necessary to prevent abuses, and thereby

protect the ability of the not-for-profit sector to enjoy the public trust which permits it to

raise the funds necessary to carry out its purposes.

' Created in 1960 to advance philanthropy, NSFRE is an association of over 15,000 individuals who raise

private voluntary contributions and other funds for not-for-profits nationwide. Its members include

development officers and other fundraisers who are employees of not-for-profit organizations, as well as

independent fundraising specialists.

National Society of Fund Raising Executives

I loi King Street, Suite 700 Alexandria, Virginia 1Z3I4-Z967

703/684-0410 Fax: 703/684-0540 Toil-Free: 800/666-FUND
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NSFRE therefore agrees with Treasury's testimony that current law fails in some cases

to provide appropriate sanctions for noncompliance with the tax exemption requirements

applicable to section 501(c)(3) and section 501(c)(4) organizations.^ This is true, for

example, in a case where an organization engages in a minor and/or isolated transaction

that may constitute private inurement or private benefit. In such a case, it would be

inappropriate for the organization to lose its tax-exempt status entirely.

We also generally agree with the thrust of Treasury's proposals, as follows:

1. NSFRE believes that intermediate sanctions are appropriate as an additional

enforcement tool.'

2. NSFRE believes that steps should be taken to ensure that informative, properly

prepared Forms 990 are filed with the Internal Revenue Service and made

available to the general public on a timely basis.

Since we cannot comment fully on Treasury's proposal until an actual legislative

proposal is introduced, our comments below are limited to Treasury's testimony before

the Oversight Subcommittee.

INTERMEDIATE SANCTIONS

NSFRE agrees with Treasury's testimony that current law, in some cases, does not

provide appropriate sanctions for noncompliance with the tax-exemption requirements

applicable to section 501(c)(3) and section 501(c)(4) organizations. We also agree that it

would be inappropriate to extend to section 501(c)(3) and section 501(c)(4)

organizations the detailed restrictions that apply to private foundations. We are

concerned, however, that the thrust of Treasury's testimony leaves the unintended

inference that excessive compensation and insider transactions are the most prevalent

activities which give rise to instances of non-compliance with Federal laws. Both

Congress and the public will benefit from a clearer understanding that there are other

practices, many of which are covered by Treasury's testimony, which make a stronger

case in support of the need for intermediate sanctions.

NSFRE generally supports Treasury's proposal to apply excise taxes to certain "excess

benefits" provided to an "insider" by a section 501(c)(3) or section 501(c)(4) organization.

Under Treasury's proposal, this excise tax would apply to two classes of transactions:

^ All section references are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, except as provided

otherwise.

' See our additional comments below.
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(1) the payment of unreasonable compensation by an organization, or (2) a non-fair

market value transfer in which an insider pays inadequate consideration for real or

personal property transferred, leased, licensed or loaned by the organization, or the

organization pays excessive consideration for property transferred, leased, licensed or

loaned by the insider.

We have a number of suggestions that are intended to ensure that the sanctions serve

the purpose for which they are intended, without needlessly disrupting the ability of

affected organizations to carry on their tax-exempt purposes.

1. With respect to unreasonable compensation, NSFRE is concerned that the

current-law standards for determining whether compensation is reasonable are

overly vague. While we support a facts and circumstances approach, and would

strongly oppose the application of any type of "bright line" standard to

compensation, we would suggest that Congress consider developing safe harbors

under which compensation would be deemed to be reasonable. Such safe harbors

would reduce the likelihood that tax-exempt organizations would find themselves

in lengthy, costly, and unnecessary disputes with the IRS, as well as providing

foundation boards and managers with certainty that the compensation being paid

by their organizations is within the law.*

For example, approval of a compensation package by an independent board of

directors, board of trustees, or other governing body should be considered

sufficient evidence that a compensation package is reasonable.' A favorable

opinion of a qualified compensation specialist or a major certified public

accounting firm should also be considered sufficient evidence that a compensation

package is reasonable.

2. NSFRE also suggests the use of safe harbors for transfers involving insiders.

3. Treasury's proposal provides for a two-part excise tax whereby an excise tax would

apply both to an "insider" receiving "excess benefits", and to an "organization

manager" who approves a transaction "knowing" that it results in an excess

benefit.

* While Treasur/s proposal provides that normal review procedures would apply in cases where taxpayers

disagree with the Internal Revenue Service, safe harbors would allow both tax-exempt organizations and

the IRS to avoid lengthy and costly administrative and judicial appeals.

' Treasury proposes that the approval of compensation by an independent governing body would be a

factor in determining whether compensation is reasonable. NSFRE suggests that such approval should

constitute a definitive safe harbor.
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NSFRE is profoundly concerned that the tax on organization managers could

have a chilling effect on the willingness of individuals to act as directors, trustees

or managers of not-for-profit organizations. At the same time, we recognize the

need to hold organization managers responsible for their actions and for fulfilling

their duties and obligations. To balance these two needs, we suggest that any

proposal developed by Congress contain language, applying to both insiders and

organization managers, similar to that contained in section 4941 with respect to

foundation managers. This would mean that the excise tax on excess benefits

should only apply to an insider or organization manager when the insider or

organization manager participates in the transaction knowing that it results in an

excess benefit and his or her participation is willful and is not due to reasonable

cause. NSFRE also suggests that the burden of proof in such cases be placed on

the IRS, as is the case under section 7454 (relating to the section 4941 excise tax

on foundation managers).

PENALTY FOR FAILURE TO MEET FORM 990 HLING REQUIREMENTS

NSFRE agrees with Treasury that the Form 990 can serve as an effective vehicle for

providing public oversight of charitable organizations only if those organizations timely

file complete and accurate returns. While NSFRE does not disagree with Treasury's

proposal to increase the monetary penalty for failure to timely file a complete and

accurate return, we feel that additional thought should be given to what is meant by "a

complete and accurate return". Tax-exempt organizations vary widely in the amount of

detail that they provide on the Form 990. In many cases, this is due to lack of guidance,

through instructions or otherwise, on how to properly complete the form. In other cases

organizations, particularly small organizations, do not have the resources to learn about

and properly prepare their Forms 990, which are quite complex, or to hire outside

advisors to help them.

NSFRE also suggests that Congress consider applying different sanctions depending on

the severity of the failure to file a "complete and accurate return". NSFRE would be

pleased to work with Congress in developing standards in this area.

PROVISION OF COPIES OF RETURN. APPLICATIONS FOR EXEMPTION

NSFRE agrees with Treasury that the Form 990 must be readily available to the public if

it is to facilitate effectively public oversight of charitable organizations. Accordingly,

NSFRE agrees with Treasury's proposal that Forms 990 and tax-exemption applications

and related materials be made available by mail to any person who requests these

documents and agrees to pay a reasonable fee for copying and mailing.
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Many Forms 990 have lengthy attachments providing detail on the information provided

in the forms (e.g., statements showing all securities transactions during the year). We
would suggest that reasonable copying and mailing charges for such attachments could

be quite high, and the usefulness of the attachments to the public rather low. Similarly,

the "related materials" that accompany a determination letter request can be voluminous

and, again, of limited use to the public. We suggest that any proposal developed by

Congress contain rules allowing organizations to send only specified attachments and

related materials to those requesting such documents by mail. NSFRE would be pleased

to work with Congress in developing standards in this area.

NSFRE agrees with Treasury that effective means must be devised to protect

organizations from organized harassment campaigns. Applying an overall limit on the

number of requests that must be processed within a given time period might be one

solution to this problem. NSFRE would be pleased to work with Congress in developing

other standards in this area.

NSFRE is not opposed, in concept, to Treasury's proposal that the penalty under section

6652(c)(1)(C) for failure to comply with the requirements relating to the public

inspection of Forms 990 be increased. Higher penalties will encourage increased

compliance with the requirements of section 6104(d). However, if the penalty is

increased in conjunction with a requirement that organizations provide copies of their

Forms 990 by mail, additional consideration must be given to what is meant by

compliance with the requirements of section 6104(d). For example, should a time limit

be placed on responding to a request for information? What if an organization mails

the Form 990 but not some of the lengthy attachments described above? Under what

circumstances would penalties apply? NSFRE would be pleased to work with Congress

in developing standards in this area.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO BE PROVIDED ON FORM 990

NSFRE agrees with Treasury that the Form 990 should provide the public with all

information related to the consistency of the organization's activities with the standards

for tax exemption. NSFRE therefore generally supports Treasury's proposals in this

With respect to areas where the Form 990 could be improved, NSFRE has particular

expertise in the area of fundraising and fundraising fees and expenses. We would be

pleased to work with Congress, Treasury and the IRS in developing standards in this

NSFRE is also concerned with the discrepancies that exist in some area between the

financial accounting standards that apply to not-for-profits, and the Form 990
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requirements. NSFRE would be pleased to work with Congress in identifying specific

areas of concern and developing proposals for those areas identified.

NSFRE hopes that its comments in this important area have been helpful. We would be
pleased to provide whatever additional information or assistance that you require. I look
forward to discussing our comments in more detail with you and your staff. Please feel

free to call me at (703) 684-0410.

Sincerely,

Patricia F. Lewis, CFRE
President and CEO

Beth K. Vance, Esq.

Leshe B. Samuels, Esq.

Michael Schultz, Esq.

John Lore, CFRE
Virgil Ecton, CFRE

PFUhdm
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STATEMEMT OF CHARLES KOLB, GENERAL COUNSEL
UNITED WAY OF AMERICA

BEFORE THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT
COMMFTTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS, U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATPVES

APRIL 18, 1994

On behalf of United Way of America and its approximately 1 ,400 local United Way
member organizations, I am pleased to submit a written communication to be included in the

printed record of the Subcommittee's hearing devoted to public accountability with regard to

public charities. We have had the opportunity to review closely the proposals submitted by

the Department of the Treasury on March 16, 1994. These proposals, if enacted, would

provide a series of "interim sanctions" and additional public disclosures for both public

charities and Section 501(c)(4) organizations. We hope that the Treasury's proposals will be

incorporated in legislative language that will ultimately be enacted by the Congress.

With respect to the proposed "interim sanctions," United Way of Ameica believes that

the new standards set forth provide an appropriate and balanced approach to key issues such

as excess benefits, insider transactions, and reasonable compensation. During the last two

years. United Way of America has undergone major changes in its governance structure as

well as in its budget and financial control systems. These changes now ensure that its Board

of Governors and senior management completely fulfill their fiduciary responsibilities to the

organization and to the American public. Additionally, United Way of America has adopted

a Code of Ethics which includes rigorous conflict-of-interest standards for both United Way
of America employees and members of its Board of Governors.

Taken together, these changes foster an environment at United Way of America that

ensures greater accountability and public stewardship. It is in this context that we
wholeheartedly endorse the Treasury's "interim sanction" proposals as representing a

balanced and reasonable approach to the critical issue of accountability by public charities.

With respect to the proposals relating to public disclosure, UWA fully supports the

Treasury's approach which is intended to ensure that the donating public has ready access to

essentia] information about individual charities. Again, the Treasury has struck a balanced

approach when it comes to ensuring access to essential information without simultaneously

creating needless and costly burdens on charities.

In conclusion, United Way of America endorses the proposals submitted by the

Department of the Treasury and urges the Congress to enact them into law.
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